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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

HON KEN BASTON MLC
MINISTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND FOOD

In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, 
I hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the 
annual report of the Perth Market Authority for the financial year ended 30 
June 2013.

The annual report has been prepared in accordance with the provision of 
the Financial Management Act 2006.

D Thomas     M O’Neill
Chairman of Perth Market Authority Member of Perth Market Authority
30 August 2013    30 August 2013

CONTACT DETAILS

Postal
Mail Point 1, Market City, 280 Bannister Road, Canning Vale, WA, 6155

Electronic
T: 08 9456 9200
F: 08 9456 9222
E: pma@perthmarket.com.au
W: www.perthmarket.com.au 

Government of Western Australia
Perth Market Authority
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SAFETY
The Perth Market Authority (Authority) continued 
its strong emphasis on the safety of its staff and 
all site users with continued daily monitoring 
around the site and a complete review of internal 
OH&S management system. This includes 
essential compliance tasks being identified, 
monitored and finalised to ensure continued 
safe operation of the site for all users. 

FIRE SERvICES UPGRADE PROJECT
The Fire Services Upgrade Project was 
substantially completed in 2012/13 including a 
new pump house supported by 1.1 million litres 
of fire suppression water storage, hydraulic 
reticulation of fire services to the site and fire 
sprinklers fitted to buildings and coolrooms. 

ELECTRICITY DISCOUNT
Since December 2011, Market City tenants have 
been provided with a 10% discount on their 
overall electricity charges. Further to this, in July 
2012, the Authority provided a 25% discount to 
“off peak” users. The total discount amount to 
tenants for 2012/13 is estimated at $661,000.

TENANT OUTGOINGS REvIEw
The Variable Outgoings Consultative 
Committee met regularly in 2012/13 to maintain 
open communication and transparency. The 
Authority’s committment to restrain variable 
outgoings expenses to within established 
budget levels was achieved. 

FINALISATION OF TENANT LEASES
Throughout the year, the major goal of the Property 
and Executive teams has been the conversion of 
tenants on monthly “holding-over” leases to longer, 
more secure tenure. At the start of the year, of the 
155 total lease on site, 60 leases were on a “holding 
over” basis.  As at 30 June 2013, new leases had 
been agreed on 41 of these premises, with new 
terms typically greater than 5 years.  Subsequent 
to the reporting date, 17 further new leases have 
been agreed with former ‘holding-over” tenants.

TENANT AND KEY STAKEHOLDER 
SURvEY RESULTS
The 2012/13 Tenant Satisfaction Survey saw 
an increase of 78% in very good to excellent 
performance ratings which is an improvement  
from 14% satsifaction in 2012 to 25% in 2013.  
The Authority received its highest performance 
ratings in the Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey with 
signifcant increases in very good to excellent in 
the Authority’s overall performance, since 2011 
when the survey was last conducted. Performance 
ratings from buyers increased by 52% and growers 
by 190% in 2013. 

wA’S FRESH PRODUCE RETAILER OF 
THE YEAR AwARDS
90 stores entered into the 2013 WA Fresh Produce 
Retailer of the Year Awards in various award 
categories including three produce excellence 
awards and eight retail store excellence awards. 
The finalists in this year’s awards maintained the 
highest standards in fresh produce retailing.
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In 1929, the Perth Metropolitan Markets 
opened in wellington Street, west Perth. 

In 2013, the Market City site in Canning vale 
continues to expand  considerably

In 1989, the Market City site 
opened in Canning vale on Bannister Road.

In the beginning...
The central markets have played a pivotal role 
in WA’s fresh food supply since the 1800’s. The 
Perth Markets first opened in 1872, at the Perth 
Town Hall, then moved to Wellington Street 
when the Government purchased a 13 hectare 
site in 1929, and opened the Perth Metropolitan 
Markets in West Perth. 

After 60 years at West Perth, with the increased 
demand for fresh food continuing as the population 
in Perth grew, the Government moved the market 
to a larger site at Canning Vale. 1989 saw the 
closure of the West Perth Metropolitan Markets 
and the opening of Market City, at the new 52ha 
site as part of the Canning Vale industrial area. 

Changes over 24 years...
Today, Market City sits on 52 hectares of land, 
with over 100 tenants, including a number of 
wholesale businesses that have moved from the 
old West Perth Markets. Business is conducted 
differently today as over the years, the original 
auction system has been superseded by private 
treaty and direct purchases. The evolution of new 
technologies has resulted in greater efficiencies. 
For example, the Fruit Produce Agents 
Association (FPAA) credit service has simplified 
payments through paperless invoicing, and 
facilitating more efficient business to business 
transactions. 

The extensive use of forklifts has revolutionised 
the volume of produce moved on a daily basis. 
As the population in Perth grew, the ethnic 
diversity also changed and this is reflected in 
the growing ethnic diversity in the market place. 
Buyers and their buying patterns have changed 
over the years with the quality of the produce 
in the markets improving due to refrigeration 
and improved agricultural practices driven by 
consumer demand.  

Market City and the future...
Market City strives to be a market leader - a 
leader in the way business is done, the services 
provided to its customers, in its systems and 
technologes and by giving tenants the most 
effective strategic and commercial advantage.  

Markets worldwide are evolving to meet changing 
consumer needs and provide consumers with 
food quality and safety assurances. Market City 
continues to reduce its environmental footprint 
through its energy managagement initiatives 
such as the Waste Transfer Facility.  

Market City will continue to improve, grow and 
provide a safe and efficient  business environment 
and continue its crital position in the supply chain 
- connecting growers, wholesalers, retailers and 
consumers. 
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• The Authority is the Western Australian 
Government agency responsible for the 
ownership and management of the Market City 
facility.

• Market City is situated on 52 hectares of land at 
Canning Vale, 16 km south of the CBD of Perth, 
the capital city of WA.

• The total lettable area is 81,818m² of buildings 
on site. The tenant base comprises of 25 
primary wholesalers, and over 30 secondary 
wholesalers, providores, distributors and food 
processing facilities. 

• 155 leases and licenses in place.
• There are also national and local transport and 

storage companies, a meat processing facility 
and weekly seafood auction located on site.

• The Retail and Business Services Centre 
includes conference facilities, a Commercial 
Centre and a modern 7 day public food precinct. 
It also includes a stand alone tavern and a 
Service Station.

• The Authority operates an award winning Waste 
Transfer Facility where over 30,800 loads pass 
through the facility each year.

• Over 1,691 tonnes of waste is diverted from 
landfill through recycling and reuse in the Waste 
Transfer Facility.  

• The Authority operates 2 Weekend Public 
Markets; the Saturday Clearance Market and 
Sunday Community Market.

• An average of 1,454 vehicles visit the Saturday 
Markets and an average of 4,746 people visit 
the Sunday Community Market per week.

• Over $582M of fresh produce is traded annually 
through the Central Trading Area (CTA) by the 
wholesalers.

• Over 225,000 tonnes of fresh produce traded 
annually. 

• 16 electrical substations provide electricity to 
tenants on site. 

• Average of 4,244 vehicle movements in and out 
of the wholesale site daily.

• Market City has a total of 2640 car and truck 
parking bays on site.

• There are over 320 registered forklifts on site 
with over 280 registered to Market City tenants.

• 82,900kg of fresh fruit and vegetables was 
donated to FoodbankWA by Market City users.

• 23,230 MWh of electricity was consumed.
• 51,579 KL of water was consumed.

Market City is a diverse cluster of businesses involved in wholesale trading, food retailing, 
business service providers and weekend consumer markets. The site as a whole, not only 
plays a critical role in fresh produce supply and makes a significant contribution to the State’s 
economy but it impacts on local communities and families. 
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As Chairman, I am pleased to present the 2013 
annual report for the Authority.  

This has been a year of significant progress across a number of 
fronts:

1. Fire Prevention Upgrade: We are now in the final stages of 
completing the $9.298M upgrade to the fire-risk management systems 
across the Market City site - including installation of state of the art 
sprinkler and alarm infrastructure across most of the complex. I know 
this project has at times caused interruptions to some of our clients and 
we appreciate the cooperation and assistance we have received while 
the works have been completed. I’m also pleased to report that this 
large and complex project will be completed on budget - which is a real 
credit to the Authority’s Management team, our Project Managers and 
the numerous contractors involved.

2.  warehouse Expansion:  we have completed planning and budget 
approvals for the new $10M E7 Cool chain warehouse and are now 
reviewing expressions of interest from potential tenants. We continue 
to experience full occupancy for our cool chain warehouse space and 
this will go some way to meeting the demand - however the demand for 
cool chain infrastructure for fresh produce continues to grow as Perth 
grows - and we need to continue to invest. We are now commencing 
feasibility planning for further development on site.
 
3.  Power Back up Systems: during this year we will also be installing 
a $3.44M backup power system on site which will allow us to provide 
stand by power to support our cool chain infrastructure in the event of 
failures in the main city power grid. I’m very pleased that this has finally 
enabled us to mitigate a key business risk for tenants on site.

4.  Ongoing capital works: Market City users will also have noticed 
the impact of our ramped up focus on maintenance and minor capital 
upgrades as we become more proactive abut the maintenance tasks of 
keeping our 24 year old infrastructure in good working condition.

5.  Market Rental:  After working with the government, the Chamber of 
Fruit and Vegetable Industries WA (Chamber), tenants and stakeholders 
we are now implementing the alignment of rents to market benchmark 
through a phased in process that will continue to deliver a competitive 
advantage to tenants whilst also maintaining the capacity of the Authority 
to generate sustainable revenues so it can continue to invest in the site. 
As part of this process we also participated in extensive discussion 
with the Chamber on the form of an updated lease agreement and am 
pleased that we have now agreed on a new standard lease format.  

I’m also pleased to report that the Authority continues to operate 
entirely from its self funded revenue streams, with no reliance on 
the Consolidated Revenue of the government.  The capital projects 
summarised above have been funded from retained earnings and we 
hope to continue to have the capacity to make this investment for the 
industry.
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The Authority was formed by an Act of Parliament passed in 1926 to establish a wholesale market 
for the distribution of fresh produce for the State. While we recognise the 87 year history, I am very 
conscious of the need to make sure that the Authority remains relevant to its stakeholders - the 
buyers, agents and growers who trade over $582M of produce through the facility each year.

The Board will be working though an updated strategic planning framework at the start of the 2014 
financial year and will be consulting widely with government and stakeholders as we plan for the next 
five years of the Authority.

As always, my thanks for the commitment and support of my fellow Board 
members, the Minister and his office, the CEO Stephen Ward and his staff - and 
to the many users of Market City who I spoke to during the year.  

David Thomas
Chairman

Perth Market Authority
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As expected the 2012/13 financial year presented 
challenges as we continued to focus on improving our 
operations and ensuring the delivery of services to our 
tenants and other site users.

The year was characterised by an accelerated focus upon operational 
excellence as evidenced by; continued sound financial performance, 
completion of most of the required site infrastructure maintenance, along 
with the tenant agreed finalisation of the understandably emotional issues 
of lease negotiation and market rent assessment.

In addition, a number of construction projects reached practical completion 
and have been made available to assist our many site users.  
We have also completed the majority of the required detailed business 
process reviews of the Authority’s operations and implemented the 
necessary changes to improve our customer focused operations as well 
as our broader risk management processes and controls.

The Authority has been able to continue to deliver reductions to tenants 
outgoing recoveries (Variable Outgoings) as well as the maintenance of 
the significant discounts to tenants’ electricity tariffs. 

Both projects for the construction of the E7 Cool Chain Warehouse, and 
the Site Standby Power Generators have been approved and are planned 
for completion within the next financial year.

Financial Performance
As evidenced by this year’s financial results, the Authority has maintained 
its satisfactory performance and continues to generate a surplus sufficient 
to meet its debt servicing obligations, self fund the substantial capital 
works program, industry support program, and absorb the additional 
costs in reducing variable outgoings and discounting electricity.

Overall revenue decreased by 2.8% to $19.572M primarily due to 
reductions in interest revenue, and outgoings recoveries. These reductions 
were partly offset by a 5.3% increase in rental income to $9.811M.

Total expenses increased by 4.9% to $17.44M resulting in a decrease in 
profit by 39.2% to $2.131M.  The increased costs predominantly relate 
to increased site operating costs resulting from previously introduced 
changes to the methodology for tenant outgoings recovery.  This change 
has, as expected, resulted in an increase in the Authority’s costs while 
providing tenants with a reduction in their outgoings 2012/13 budget and 
actual.

Total expenses were also increased by the non recurring write-off of 
$363,000 relating to a prior period capital project that will no longer 
continue.  This amount had no cash impact within this financial year.

Site Operations
As well as continued review of critical site infrastructure, including 
maintenance to be undertaken or planned, the Authority has completed 
updated site compliance plans and processes to meet both legislated 
and Australian Standards requirements. The most important of these has 
been the new site fire evacuation plan. 
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Both the Saturday Clearance Market and the Sunday Community Market, which are operated by 
the Authority, continue to maintain their popularity with public attendance for the year up by 16.1% 
to 74,134 vehicles for Saturday Market and up 8.6% to 251,557 people for the Sunday Market.  
During the year the new amenities building was completed and commissioned for visitor’s use.  

Property Management and Tenant Concerns
As reported last year, there were a significant number of leases that had or were about to expire 
and the need for adjustment to rental rates and standard lease conditions to re-establish equity 
between tenants created understandable tension and dissatisfaction.

It is very pleasing to confirm that these issues have now been resolved and all tenants have 
agreed to new leases and have either signed new leases or are in the process of doing so. The 
adoption by the Authority of a tenant focused relationship management model and the provision 
of two dedicated Property Relationship Managers has significantly improved tenant satisfaction. 

Industry Support and Communications
Our support to the fresh produce industry continues with a highlight being the publication of our 
2nd research report on the total WA wholesale fruit and vegetable market. This report concluded 
that Market City has a market share of total fresh fruit and vegetable produce of 46% of volume 
(down 2.8%) and 62% (down 4.1%) of market value.  This report is to be produced annually and 
will continue to track the total volume of WA Fresh Fruit and Vegetable industry.

We have also confirmed an additional budget contribution of $300,000, plus 1.5 FTE Authority 
staff, for the “Great Greengrocer” (GGG) retailer support program being run in association with 
the Chamber and industry. 

Tenant and Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey Results 
During the year the Authority commissioned an external group to conduct our annual Tenant 
Satisfaction Survey as well as our biannual Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey.  

It is very pleasing to advise that both surveys showed significant improvement in satisfaction 
with the Authority and the Market City site.  The key overall performance measure of “very good/
excellent” rating from tenants improved from 14% (2012) to 25% (2013).  A similar positive trend 
is evident with the key stakeholder groups, with growers improving from 29% (2011) to 44% 
(2013) and Buyers improving from 20% (2011) to 58% (2013).

Stephen ward
CEO

Perth Market Authority

The Future
An organisation is only as good as the people in it, and I would like to again thank my 
staff for their efforts and support in making good progress towards our goals. I remain 
confident that the organisation is well positioned to meet the futures needs of the industry 
and I am looking forward to implementing the various initiatives developed as part of our 
strategic planning process.
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OBJECTIvES
The Authority owns and operates the 52 hectare Market City complex located in Canning vale. 
The Authority generates revenue from commercial activities mainly consisting of the renting 
of premises to tenants and is managed for financial sustainability. The Authority focuses on 
development of the facility to provide tenants and the fresh produce industry with wholesale 
and retail pathways to consumers.

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE
The Authority, trading as Market City, was established by the Perth Market Act 1926 to create Western 
Australia’s central fresh produce market. Market City plays a crucial role in the wholesale marketing and 
distribution of fresh produce in the state.

Enabling Legislation
The Authority was established by a statutory authority under Section 3 of the Perth Market Act 1926 on 
12 July 1990 (previously Metropolitan Market Trust). 

Responsible Minister
The Minister responsible for the Authority is the Hon Ken Baston MLC, Minister for Agriculture and Food.

Legislation Impacting on the Authority’s Activities
In the performance of its functions, the Authority complies with the following relevant written laws:

Auditor General Act 2006
Clean Energy Act 2011
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 1907
Environmental Protection Act 1993
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Financial Management Act 2006
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Goods and Services Tax Act 1999
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Perth Market Act 1926
Perth Market By-Laws 1990
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Public Sector Standards in Human Resources Management 2001
Salaries and Allowances 1975
State Records Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996
Taxation Administration Act 1953
The Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 1985
Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2007
Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
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OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE continued

vision
“Market City will maintain leadership in fresh produce wholesaling, and will be the preferred location for 
food service businesses in Western Australia.”

Mission
“To operate an efficient and effective wholesale market that provides a commercial advantage to it’s 
users, whilst supporting the growth of the market value chain.”

As part of the development of the 2013-18 Strategic Plan the Authority has reviewed its vision and 
mission statements to the reflect current and future focus of the Authority.

value Statements
The Authority is committed to the following value statements:
• We will be open and approachable in all our dealings while working in partnership with our 

stakeholders.
• We will value our customers and their business, as this is our business.
• We will treat all customers honestly and ethically to achieve a mutually beneficial outcome that 

serves the community.
• We will demonstrate leadership by being proactive with Government on Public Private Partnerships 

and privatisation, delivering the best weekend market in Perth and galvanising promotions so that 
Market City is one the of best central markets in Australia.

ORGANISATIONAL CHART
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Chairman - David Thomas
David Thomas was appointed Chairman in September 2008. David is the Head 
of the Commodity and Structured Trade Finance Business for Western Australia 
at the HSBC Bank.   David is the Chairman of the Sustainable Capital Committee 
and member of the Finance and Audit Committees. David has previously served 
as a member of the Authority from 1993 to 1998.

Member - Michael O’Neill (FAICD)
Michael O’Neill is an independent member of the Board, first appointed by the 
Government in September 2008. Michael has extensive experience in banking 
and finance and is currently a Non Executive Director of Gindalbie Metals Ltd 
and Gryphon Minerals Ltd. He operates an investment company Cornhill Group 
Pty Ltd and is a former Director of WAIS. Michael is the Chairman of the Finance 
Committee and member of the Audit and Sustainable Capital Committees.

Member - Diane Fry
Diane Fry is a member of the Board, first appointed by the Government in October 
2002. Diane is a fruit grower from Manjimup, President of the Western Australian 
Fruit Growers Association.  Diane is a member of the Market Operations 
Committee.

Member - Ermie Robinson
Ermie Robinson is a member of the Board knowledgeable about the affairs and 
interests of consumers of general produce, first appointed in October 2002. 
Ermie spent 20 years as a pastoralist north of Kalgoorlie before returning to Perth 
and has been working on the land development industry since 2000. Ermie is the 
Chairman of the Audit and the OH&S Committees and a member of the Finance 
Committee.

Member - Grant Etherington
Grant Etherington is a member of the Board knowledgeable in the affairs and 
interests of agents, first appointed in November 2009. Grant is the Managing 
Director of Etherington, a wholesaler trader at Market City.  Grant is a member of 
the Market Operations and the OH&S Committees.  

Member - Vasilios Gotsis
Vasilios Gotsis is a member of the Board knowledgeable in the affairs and interests 
of buyers, first appointed in September 2008. Vasilios is part owner of Fresh 
Provisions in Western Australia which showcases high quality fresh produce and 
has been a buyer since 1980. Vasilios is the Chairman of the Market Operations 
Committee and a member of the Sustainable Capital Committee.

Member - Glenn  Mews
Glenn Mews is a member of the Board knowledgeable in the affairs and interests 
of agents and was appointed in September 2012. Glenn is the Managing Director 
of Mr Mushroom, a wholesaler at Market City. Glenn is a member of the Market 
Operations Committee.
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Perth Market Authority Performance Management Framework

The Authority’s Performance Management Framework reflects its functional requirements as outlined 
in its Act as well as through its existing long term Strategic Plan (2009) and its current Operational Plan 
(2013). The framework is structured in accordance with the Government Outcome Based management 
Framework for the public sector agencies. 

The Authority is classified as a Non SES Organisation by the State Government. This implies that the 
Authority is required to be self funding and is thus required to act in a commercial manner to fulfil its 
functions. The Act does not however outline profit maximisation as its objective.

Perth Market Authority Outcome Based Management Framework

Government Desired Outcome: Maintain a central produce market for Western Australia.

Key Effectiveness Indicator: Market Throughput (volume and value). 
Through the Central Trading Area (CTA), the Authority provides a wholesale market place for fresh 
produce to encourage a competitive trading environment.

Key Efficiency indicator: Cost per Square Metre of Net Lettable Area.
The Authority’s ability to efficiently manage expenditure on commercial site management costs (i.e. 
variable outgoings), operational costs, borrowing costs and depreciation is integral to attracting and 
retaining tenants in the fresh produce, food processing and logistics industries. 

Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework
There have been no changes to the Authority’s Outcome Based Management Framework during 
2012/13. The new Strategic Plan 2013-18 for the Authority will consider changes to the Key Indicators 
and seek Ministerial support for changes where appropriate.

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies
The Authority did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2012/13. 
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The Authority’s financial performance and position remains sound.

Core business performance has been maintained with rental revenue increasing by 5.3% offset by reduced 
interest revenue as cash balances are drawn down to fund capital projects. The Authority has sought to 
improve the efficiency of the site through constrained variable outgoings expenses and its recovery from 
tenants. Net income is down 2.8% as a result of these factors.

Expenses increased 4.9% compared to last year principally due to additional once off and transitional site 
management costs. Increases in legal fees occurred as new leases are actively negotiated and professional 
services fees in order to gain a better understanding of the site, its dynamics and improve processes. A 
once off $325,000 write-off was recognised during the year for the weekend market expansion project 
incurred in prior years and held as work in progress. It was recognised during the year that the Authority 
would no longer continue with this capital project and the impairment was expensed.

Property, plant and equipment increased by $10M over the year with substantial capital works were 
undertaken. The Authority’s borrowings continue to be reduced with $1.4m being repaid during the year. 
Net assets increased 4% demonstrating the Authority’s financial prudence and maintaining the robustness 
in its balance sheet.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Facilities Management
The Facilities team has completed a substantial amount of compliance and preventive maintenance in 
the 2012/13 financial year. This includes plant and equipment servicing, RCD testing, emergency lighting, 
evacuation training, fall arrest, water quality testing and the annual thermograph and electrical maintenance 
on all 16 high voltage sub-stations. There has been a continued focus on facility and hazard prevention 
inspections and the further development of the annual compliance program to ensure a safe and efficient 
facility.

The Authority has also commenced the review of existing service contracts in order to improve efficiencies 
and ensure the scope of services is aligned with site needs and best practice. Several minor, but important, 
contracts have also been reviewed and awarded to new contractors or extended with existing service 
providers to ensure continuation of site essential services. The Authority has also invested resources in 
its business continuity, after hour’s management and incident response processes to ensure improved 24 
hour coverage of facility and safety issues. With the Market City site now over 23 years old, the need for 
detailed annual preventive maintenance  planning and execution will be essential to maintain the required 
standard of site buildings and infrastructure. 

The Facilities Management team has also improved forecasting of key operational expenditure to better 
manage facility tasks and budgeting which includes life cycle asset replacement well in advance. Another 
key initiative will be the finalisation of an improved contractor induction system including contractor work 
permits and site access.

waste Transfer Facility
The Waste Transfer Facility, located in the southern end of the site, has proven successful with 100% of 
wholesale (CTA) tenants making use of this sustainability initiative. The Waste Transfer Facility allows 
waste to be separated into several streams including organics, cardboard, timber, plastic and polystyrene 
which are diverted from landfill through recycling and reuse. 

All other non segregated mixed waste is disposed of as landfill. The Authority has invested additional funds 
to purchase more waste bins to aid segregation of waste into individual streams for proper disposal. The 
Waste Transfer Facility processed approximately 3 million kilograms of waste in the last 12 months and 
received over 30,800 individual loads.
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Minor Projects
This year has seen a number of improvement initiatives and renewal maintenance such as the creation 
of new pedestrian crossings, a new security gatehouse at the Bannister Road entry, increased utilities 
metering to better understand usage patterns, renewed and new road line marking and directional signage, 
construction of dedicated forklift service bays, construction of a new car park adjacent to the waste transfer 
and the upgrade and replacement of evaporative air conditioning units in the Wholesale/Retail building. 
Significant improvements were executed with the Authority absorbing several one off costs in lieu of passing 
these costs to tenants. Site wide automated lighting systems have received additional maintenance and 
minor upgrades, while the Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) and card access control systems have been 
reviewed for effectiveness and efficiency with further system improvement planned for 2013/14. 

New industrial roller shutters are under trial in the CTA, with a complete capital replacement program to 
be developed spanning several years for this key infrastructure item. Several buildings and structures 
received corrosion treatment and painting as part of a planned annual program which will take several 
years to implement. Fire protection remains a key maintenance and monitoring task for the Facilities and 
Operations staff. A complete fire maintenance contract will be developed in concert with the soon to be 
completed fire system upgrade project.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS continued

A summary table is provided below:

The Authority is also continuing the baling of plastic 
waste for recycling and further compacting of cardboard 
to increase the efficiency of transport. Additional waste 
transfer staff resources, a second forklift and having the 
transfer facility open on Sundays ensures continued 
efficient operations especially during peak periods. 

Next year will see a renewed push to promote segregation 
and recycling and to have all industrial tenants make use 
of this sustainability initiative whilst seeking more cost 
effective ways to divert waste from WA landfill sites.

waste Type KGs Loads

General 1,392,212 15,292
Organic 1,287,549 4,178
Cardboard 354,426 9,955
Timber 1,439 20
Plastic 13,911 954
Polystyrene 158 11
Pallets (free wood) 24,668 390
Metal/Aluminium

Total

355

3,074,718

3

30,803

55%

45%

Recycle/Reuse Landfill



AGENCY PERFORMANCE

18

REPORT ON OPERATIONS continued

Operations
The Operations team maintains a consistent presence in and around Market City each day of the year, 
monitoring the daily activities of market users with a high emphasis placed on risk management and the 
safety of all site users. The new line marking around Warehouses and removal of private cars parked in 
these areas has reduced congestion and made movement of forklifts and vehicles much safer. Further work 
to review all parking requirements on site with subsequent allocation of parking bays for all market users will 
further improve efficiency. The Authority’s Market Officers form a core part of the whole of site monitoring 
and enforcement process.

Some of the challenges for 2013/14 will be ongoing parking management, finalisation of amendments to the 
Authority By-laws, security monitoring, improving site CCTV coverage and safety management on site. We 
will also be continuing to conduct structured first aid training and  fire evacuation drills for tenants.

Property Management
The improvement of property operations of the Market remained a key focus throughout 2012/13.  
Management has focused on finalising new leases for all tenants who were on a month-to-month tenure.

A standard form of lease was agreed with the Chamber.  All tenants have now agreed to execute the new 
lease with the formal execution process underway. Almost a third of tenancies are now utilising the Authority 
standard lease. 

As at the end of June 2013, all leases have been reviewed in accordance with the market rent review policy.  
For most tenants, this has limited rent reviews for any one rent review period to a maximum of 8.5% per 
annum.

The efficient management of the site parking is a key activity of the property team, and in concert with the 
Operations staff, a parking audit was completed in April 2013, which reviewed the 2640 separate parking 
bays across the site. 

Property records management and procedures were also improved across the year, including off-site 
retention and business continuity planning.
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS continued 

Community Markets
The Saturday Clearance Market and Sunday’s Community Market continue to be well supported with a 
steady increase of patrons each weekend.

The Saturday Market has averaged 1454 cars each week while the Sunday Community Market is 
averaging 4746 visitors each Sunday.

Undercover stalls are near capacity and this is expected to continue in the short term. Options for 
additional undercover bay availability will be examined in the near future with the objective of providing 
additional  bays in line with demand. 

In line with our commitment to improved health and hygiene standards the Sunday Community Market 
kiosk has undergone refurbishment. The new amenities block was completed in early March 2013 to 
assist with providing the increased patronage with modern toilet and washroom facilities.

New car parks at the northern and southern ends of the market were completed early in 2013. This 
provided an additional 199 bays for patrons with a greater focus in 2013/14 on encouraging patrons to 
enter the Sunday Community Market through Baile road to make better use of this additional car parking.

Casual staff stability has been maintained and staff have successfully completed a course in Food, Health 
and Hygiene Standards. Additionally 8 members of staff have completed Senior First Aid qualifications, 
with  5 staff also having completed a Barista course in an effort to increase the quality of our product. 

Relationships with Stakeholders and Brand Awareness
To assist improved awareness of the State’s wholesale fruit and vegetable market, the Authority has 
increased its online presence through greater interaction on social media using Facebook and Twitter.  
This has resulted in a strong following on social media and increased engagement with members of the 
community who are interested in the seasonality of fruit and vegetables.

Additional activity by the Authority includes:

• Conducting tours of the markets for high profile overseas delegations, dignitaries, community 
groups, local politicians, growers, chefs and students.  The tours assist in building relationships with 
Authority’s stakeholders and increasing awareness of role of central markets.

• Increasing engagement and communication with tenants and stakeholders, issuing over 60 written 
communications including media releases and conducting 5 tenants’ liaison forums and networking 
events to discuss specific issues. 

• A new initiative to provide better produce market intelligence to stakeholders through a weekly 
market report that provides tenants, buyers, growers and other stakeholders information on prices, 
supply and new products in the market.  For the 2012/13 financial year 52 weekly market reports 
were produced.

• Continued support of grower and regional stakeholders with regional visits by Board members and 
executive staff to Carnarvon and the South-West to exchange information on Market City operations, 
regional issues and horticultural opportunities. 



AGENCY PERFORMANCE

20

REPORT ON OPERATIONS continued 

The Authority also worked closely with other central markets, in its role as the secretariat of the Central 
Markets Association of Australia (CMAA).  The CMAA is the peak body that represents the six central 
markets in Australia. Working together the markets provide one voice on key industry issues and 
greater efficiencies through shared resources and information.  The Authority coordinated a number of 
activities for the CMAA including its bi-annual meeting held in Sydney, CMAA sponsorship of two major 
industry events and participation in tradeshows to showcase the central markets and build on business 
opportunities.

Developing the Capaciy of the Industry Supply Chain
As part of the Authority’s commitment to industry development, the Authority funded two tenants to 
participate in a fresh produce executive development program.  Furthermore, the Authority commissioned 
a report into the horticulture supply chain in WA (Freshlogic report, 2013).  The findings of the report 
were presented through a series of seminars to industry.

The Authority, in conjunction with the Chamber continued to support retailers through the annual Retailer 
of the Year awards (ROTY).  This year the Authority increased promotions of the ROTY awards through 
awareness events in the market and direct marketing, which resulted in more retailers nominating for 
the awards than previous years.

The Authority also continued its development of the GGG marketing support program for retailers.  
The objective of the GGG program is to educate consumers on fruit and vegetables and promote 
its consumption.  The program will be a multimedia marketing campaign that is jointly funded by the 
Authority and the Chamber, with contributions from retailers that join the program.  To date, market 
research and creative concept development has been completed and it is anticipated that the program 
will be launched to consumers in the 2013/14 financial year.    

Promoting Fruit and vegetable Consumption in the Community
The Authority is committed to supporting the horticulture industry, through the promotion of fruit and 
vegetables to the community.  The Authority has engaged a local Chef to entertain and educate 
consumers on fresh produce at its Sunday Community Market. This initiative started in November 2011 
and has been growing in popularity. This year over 160 recipes have been prepared  and over 4000 
people have tasted and participated in the cooking demonstrations. The Authority has received positive 
feedback from consumers through emails and Facebook and will be continuing this initiative in 2013/14. 

The Authority continues to support local schools and communities through the provision of fresh fruit and 
vegetables to promote healthy eating. Over the last year, the Authority has provided fruit and vegetables 
for sporting and community events to 4 schools and 7 industry and community groups. 

As part of the Authority’s partnership with Foodbank WA, the Authority has provided Foodbank with 
funding to promote fresh fruit and vegetables in its initiatives that educate school children and community 
groups on healthy eating. The Authority’s contribution has provided fresh fruit and vegetables to 165 
schools in these programs, educating over 7800 students. 

Capital Projects
The Authority has progressed the approved capital works program for 2012/13 and has continued 
five and ten year capital expenditure planning to ensure sustainable development of the site. The key 
projects for 2012/13 include:

New Amenities Building
The new amenities building was finalised in December 2012 and consists of male, female and disabled 
toilets and unisex showers. The building is located on the Western edge of the West Buyers Bay and is 
open 7 days per week, but particularly caters for weekend market visitors. 
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS continued

Civil works
The Authority has completed substantial civil works in 2012/13 valued at $1.092M. This has included 
326 new car parking bays and 24 truck parking bays located within the commercial centre, behind 
warehouse SE2, adjacent to the Waste Transfer Facility and adjacent to the E2 warehouse. Additionally, 
the Authority has created a 5000 sqm contractor laydown area, a truck lay by area and resurfaced a 
substantial portion of the Eastern ring road.  The Authority has commenced planning for a whole of site 
civil works upgrade plan that is anticipated to take several years to complete.

Fire Services Upgrade Project
The Fire Services Upgrade Project was substantially completed in 2012/13 including a new pump house 
supported by 1.1M litres of fire suppression water storage, hydraulic reticulation of fire services around 
the site and fire sprinklers fitted to buildings and cool rooms. A small number of coolrooms remain prior 
to practical completion and certification. The capital cost of this project has been borne by the Authority 
at no cost to tenants. 

East 7 warehouse
The design and preparatory works for the East 7, 4400sqm coolchain warehouse was completed in 
2012/13 with construction, practical completion and occupation by tenants to commence in 2013/14. 
This facility will be the first new warehouse built on the site since 2008 and the Authority is currently 
evaluating Expressions of Interest from prospective tenants to let part of the premises.

Site Development Plan (Master Planning)
In 2013/13 the Authority has invested substantial resources in site development and master planning. 
The outcomes of the Site Development Plan are reflected in the five and ten year capital budget and 
propose an expansion of cool chain warehousing on the currently vacant 12 ha at the rear of the site. To 
support the development plan the Authority is currently progressing a second electrical connection via 
Baile Road, an easement with WaterCorp to formalise access from Baile Road to the site and reviewing 
long term options for fibre optic reticulation around the site.
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RESULTS OF TENANT SATISFACTION SURvEY
The annual Tenant Satisfaction Survey was carried out by an independent research company in April 
2013 to help the Authority monitor customer satisfaction, identify areas of improvement across the site 
and measure progress in the areas of finance and property, facilities and operation management and 
strategic management.  The overall performance ratings were positive with increases in all these areas of 
performance.  The key areas are broken down as follows:

Finance and Property Management
There has been a 68% increase since 2012 in very good to excellent performance ratings in this area.  The 
increase in ratings is mainly due to positive ratings for administrating invoicing.  

This area has previously received low performance ratings and as such the Authority put in place new 
internal procedures and measures to improve the timeliness and accuracy of invoicing which has been 
received positively by tenants and reflected in this year’s survey results.  

The area which tenants identified required the most improvement in Finance and Property was the 
appropriate expenditure of variable outgoings.  To address this, the Authority has put in place a Variable 
Outgoings Consultative Committee to ensure greater transparency and provide input into the expenditure 
of outgoings.  The Committee has met 3 times this financial year and continues to provide an avenue for 
open dialogue and communication on variable outgoings. 

Operation and Facility Management
The Operation and Facilities Management area received an overall 46% increase in very good to excellent 
ratings over the previous year.  The key service attribute driving the increased performance rating was 
appropriate supervision of market hours and maintaining suitable Occupational Health and Safety standards.

The Authority continues to reinforce its “safety first” message to tenants and market users and has 
particularly targeted safety for forklift drivers to reduce risk.   

Market hours continue to be an area which receives attention from tenants and stakeholders, with diverging 
views.  The Authority has undertaken consultation with its tenants and market users to try reach a common 
goal in the enforcement of market hours.  The Authority will continue to undertake consultation in this area 
to balance the different industry group views with legal requirements and implementation practicalities.

Tenants identified arranging tenancy repairs in a timely and effective manner as the key area of focus 
for Operation and Facility Management.  The Authority understands the importance of this issue and has 
reviewed its internal processes, dedicating additional budgeted resources to this area and re-establishing 
its maintenance request system to record and monitor repairs.  Furthermore, regular site inspections are 
undertaken by the Facilities Management team to identify current and future maintenance requirements.  

Strategic Management
Strategic Management Performance received a good to excellent rating of 20% which was a 54% increase 
on the previous year.  The noticeable increased ratings were driven by CTA tenants and the key service 
attribute driving this was capital expenditure on new infrastructure.  

In general, there was an increase in all areas under strategic management including capital expenditure on 
new facilities, tenants access to decision-makers to deal with major issues, effectively managing industry 
issues and marketing & promotion of fresh produce to the general public

Tenants identified access to decision makers to deal with major issues as an area to improve on.  The 
Authority acknowledges this feedback and has made positive steps to reinforce to tenants that there is 
open access to decision makers.  Furthermore, the Authority has improved on its communication to tenants 
and stakeholders through more written and verbal communications on various site issues, increased 
business networking events and re-structured internally to establish Relationship Property Managers to 
more effectively and efficiently deal with all tenant enquiries.
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RESULTS OF BIENNIAL STAKEHOLDER SATISFACTION SURvEY
The Authority also commissioned a Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey which is conducted biennially to ensure 
the Authority continues to meet the needs of key stakeholders i.e. growers and buyers and identify areas 
for improvement.  This year the survey also included a new group “transporters” who are also users of the 
Market City site.

There were significant increases in very good to excellent ratings for the Authority’s overall performance, 
since 2011 when the survey was last conducted. Performance ratings from buyers increased by 52% and 
growers by 190% in 2013.  Transporters have not been tracked previously, however very good to excellent 
ratings were 69%.

The Authority received its highest performance scores in 2013 since tracking commenced, for all stakeholder 
groups across all elements of performance including running a safe and effective market operation, 
understanding market user needs, communication with market users and understanding industry issues.
Areas to focus on for improvement include parking and amenities for all the stakeholder groups.  The Authority 
has provided additional temporary truck parking bays, constructed new amenities (showers and toilets), and 
is continually reviewing parking with the aim to increase the parking available for buyers.

The survey results also indicated that the Market City site takes the majority of stakeholders’ business, with 
approximately 70% of produce sold or bought via Market City. 

Compared to 2011, there is a slight increase in growers (29%) and buyers (28%) usage of Market City. For 
transporters, 49% stated their use of Market City has increased in the past year.

Furthermore, stakeholders indicated positive future expectations for their use of the Market City site.   Across 
all stakeholder groups (growers, buyers and transporters), approximately 30% expect their future use of 
Market City to increase. 

The perceived benefit of a number of the Authority’s initiatives including the access card system, weekly 
market update, e-newsletter, price reporting, market statistics and marketing material was generally higher 
amongst buyers than growers.  The Authority introduced its Market City Weekly Update this financial year 
with 52 reports produced.  47% of buyers and 39% of growers rated it as highly beneficial.

68% of Buyers also indicated support for development of a consumer marketing program, the “GGG” is 
being progressed by the Authority in conjunction with the Chamber.

The survey results recommended that the Authority should focus on improving its channels of communication 
to increase awareness and usage of market initiatives.  The Authority is currently building on its stakeholder 
database and continually reviewing and updating it to ensure it reaches the majority of its stakeholder 
groups.

The overall performance 
ratings of very good to excellent 
increased by 78%, going from 
14% in 2012 to 25% in 2013.  
The Authority understands 
that it is critical to maintain 
and improve performance 
in all management  areas to 
drive overall performance. 
The Authority will continue to 
focus on areas of improvement 
based on the tenant survey 
feedback and ongoing review 
and consultation. 
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SITE MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
The Authority’s focus is on providing a world class facility for fresh produce distribution, while containing 
the associated rental and variable outgoings charges for Market City premises as much as possible. 

The table below illustrates the average rent per square metre for leased facilities and land on the site. 
The apparent rental decrease in 2011/12 results mainly from accounting entry changes to the internal 
charges for the Sunday Community Market site rental not actioned in the 2010/11 year. There is no 
effect on the profit reported. 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Rental Income ($) 9,541,000 9,320,000 9,786,000
Net Lettable Area (m2) 112,800 112,800 112,800
Rental rate per M2 ($/M2) $84.58 $82.62 $86.76

Site management costs reflect the recoverable costs involved in running the site (also known as Variable 
Outgoings). These expenses exclude directly recoverable costs such as tenant electricity, waste disposal, 
repairs, and legal fees which are directly recouped from tenants at the time of request or by direct metering. 

In previous years, the site variable outgoings per square metre were calculated using the Net Lettable 
Area (NLA) calculation (112,800m2 in 2012) as shown above. This included leased land areas not lettable 
as buildings but which formed part of the tenant areas such as common areas, parking, hardstand, and 
access areas.  The use of Gross Lettable Area (GLA) is considered correct to use this measurement when 
calculating variable outgoing cost per square metre. The table from prior years below has been restated 
using GLA instead of NLA.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Site Variable Outgoings ($) 3,794,000 3,508,000 2,789,000
Gross Lettable Area (m2) 80,561 80,561 80,561
Variable Outgoings per m2 ($/M2) $47.09 $43.54 $34.62

Occupancy rates continue to reflect the “fully let” nature of the facility with only nominal vacancies due 
to timing or operational requirements. The graph below illustrates the continued stable full occupancy 
levels on site over the last 6 years.

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Occupancy Rates 99.86% 99.23% 99.14% 98.73% 98.93% 99.91%
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
The Authority’s Finance Committee monitors the following ratios reported by management to assist the Board 
in assessing the Authority’s performance. They also facilitate strategic planning, highlighting adverse trends 
and have been in place for a number of years. The results are detailed below: 

Net Worth is an important measure to shareholders, illustrating the equity held as a percentage of total 
assets. Net assets have increased significantly over time as a result of the improving financial performance 
and asset values in line with capital investment on site funded by retained profits. The trend is now stable. 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Total Assets ($000) 170,851 177,629 181,328
Total Liabilities ($000) 47,686 48,453 47,286
Net Assets ($000) 123,166 129,176 134,042
Net Assets as % Total Assets 72% 73% 74%

The Return on Asset ratio illustrates how effectively the Authority is utilising assets. The table below 
illustrates a continued modest return is being achieved.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Net Profit ($000) 4,536 3,505 1,984
Total Non Current Assets ($000) 123,166 129,175 168,943
Return on Assets (%) 3.7% 2.7% 1.2%

Return on Equity demonstrates the return the WA Government receives in its ownership. It should 
be noted that the ratio has been affected by significant increases in the value of assets over time and 
demonstrates a continued modest positive return.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Net Profit ($000) 4,536 3,505 1,984
Total Equity ($000) 123,166 129,175 134,042
Return on Equity (%) 3.7% 2.7% 1.5%

The Debt to Earnings, before interest, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) ratio measures the 
number of years it would take the Authority to repay the WA Treasury Corporation debt at the current 
earnings level. The table below illustrates the Authority’s demonstrated capacity to repay its debt.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Borrowings ($000) 45,838 44,684 43,363.00

EBITDA ($000) 9,006 8,053 6,428.00
Debt to EBITDA (years) 5.1 5.5 6.8

In summary the Authority’s financial position remains sound.
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FINANCIAL
The Market City site continues to have an ongoing requirement for capital investment to 
support the existing infrastructure and for new facility construction to meet industry demand. 
During the year tenders were released for a new Cold Chain Warehouse (E7), estimated 
expenditure of $10.5M and Backup Power Generators at $3.0M. These are in response to 
industry demand supported by the previous tenant survey indications of future needs and site 
amenity. 

The Fire Services Upgrade ($10.4M) was substantially completed during 2012/13 and the 
minor capital works budget has been increased to $1M per annum in the near term to account 
for replacement of aging assets and infrastructure.

The Authority’s Strategic Plan 2013-18 identifies site development and expansion as a core 
focus area. Several alternatives for accessing capital funds will be explored in the near term 
to facilitate sustainable development of the site to support industry participants.

OPERATING COST
The continued increase in utility costs, especially the provision of electricity, has been a factor 
in increased site operating costs during the period. The Carbon Tax when applied to electricity 
represented a substantial increase in electricity costs in 2012/13. However, the Authority 
continued to provide a general 10% electricity discount to tenants with a further 25% discount 
for off peak tariffs. The total benefit of this discount to tenants in 2012/13 was $661,000. 

Variable Outgoings costs remain a strong focus for the Authority with substantial work being 
completed to review contracts, services and efficiencies in order to limit cost increases. 
The Authority continues to review the allocation of staff salaries, the tenancy and common 
area square meter calculations and service contracts to reduce the Variable Outgoings cost 
to tenants. The 2012/13 outgoings were delivered within the original budget with the final 
independent audit being completed and sent to tenants in August 2013.

Whilst some efficiencies have been identified, in general, the site operating costs have 
increased, which reflects the increased focus on preventative maintenance, safety and 
rectifying a backlog of minor works around the site.
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INDUSTRY SUPPORT
The Authority has maintained its support to several segments of the central market value 
chain as well as assisting schools and community organisations. 

The Authority has also continued to refine its programs aimed at promoting the consumption 
of quality fresh produce to the consumer with a substantial increase in Authority resources on 
these key initiatives planned for 2013/14. 

The Authority has increased its support to Foodbank WA through the provision of warehouse 
space, cool rooms and in kind support to enable Foodbank to collect and store fresh produce 
donated from Market City tenants prior to distribution. 

The Authority has also completed several regional visits and attended Industry conferences 
whilst maintaining its sponsorship of the WA Fresh Produce Retailer of the Year Awards.

CENTRAL MARKET THROUGHPUT
The second annual report into the Western Australian horticulture supply chain, specifically, 
the market share of wholesale and distribution channels (Freshlogic Report, 2013) was 
completed during the period. The report identified that the wholesale supply of fruit and 
vegetables in WA for 2011/12 was valued at $943.2M, of which 62% by value was traded 
through the Market City site. 

Market City remains the largest fresh produce wholesale trading facility in the State and 
continues to provide the avenue for a large number of growers to reach a wide range of retail 
and consumer outlets.
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CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

The accompanying financial statements of the Perth Market Authority have 
been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2013 and the financial position 
as at 30 June 2013. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render 
any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

R McPherson    D Thomas
Manager Finance & Administration Chairman of Perth Market Authority
30 August 2013    30 August 2013

M O’Neill
Member of Perth Market Authority
30 August 2013
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

PERTH MARKET AUTHORITY

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Perth Market Authority.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Perth Market Authority at 30 June 2013 and its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Perth Market Authority during the year ended 
30 June 2013.

Controls exercised by the Perth Market Authority are those policies and procedures established 
by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions.

Board’s Responsibility for Controls
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Perth Market Authority based on my audit conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Authority complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Perth Market Authority are sufficiently adequate to 
provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance 
with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Perth Market Authority for the year ended 
30 June 2013.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Board’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Board determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Board’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Perth Market Authority are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s performance and fairly represent indicated 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements. 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Perth Market Authority for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the Authority’s website. 
The Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This
audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report 
refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does 
not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from 
these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements 
and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication 
on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and 
key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators.

GLEN CLARKE
DEPUTY AUDITOR GENERAL
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
30 August 2013
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIvE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note $‘000
2013

$‘000
2012

INCOME
Revenue
Sales (Sunday Community Market) 5 1,176 1,194
Rental income 6 9,811 9,320
Provision of services 7 7,976 8,654
Interest revenue 8 536 850
Other revenue 9 73 111
TOTAL INCOME 19,572 20,128

EXPENSES
Cost of sales (Sunday Community Market) 5 688 669
Operational expenses 10 4,666 4,235
Commercial site management 11 7,280 7,172
Write-off 18 363 -
Depreciation and amortisation expense 12 1,697 1,709
Finance costs 13 2,747 2,839
TOTAL EXPENSES 17,441 16,623

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 2,131 3,505

OTHER COMPREHENSIvE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 16 2,762 2,504
Total other comprehensive income 2,762 2,503
TOTAL COMPREHENSIvE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 4,893 6,009

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2013

Note $‘000
2013

$‘000
2012

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 24 11,478 17,637
Receivables 14 901 1,344
Other assets 15 32 24
Total Current Assets 12,411 19,005
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 168,853 158,557
Intangible assets 17 90 67
Total Non-Current Assets 168,943 158,624
TOTAL ASSETS 181,354 177,629

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 19 2,787 2,710
Borrowings 20 1,389 1,321
Provisions 21 213 308
Other current liabilities 22 236 300
Total Current Liabilities 4,625 4,639
Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 20 41,974 43,363
Provisions 21 349 231
Other non-current liabilities 22 337 220
Total Non-Current Liabilities 42,660 43,814
TOTAL LIABILITIES 47,286 48,453

NET ASSETS 134,068 129,176

EQUITY 23
Reserves 105,174 102,412
Retained earnings 28,894 26,763
TOTAL EQUITY 134,068 129,175

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserves
$000

Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit)

$000

Total equity

$000
Balance at 1 July 2011 23 99,908 23,258 123,166
Total comprehensive  income for the year 2,504 3,505 6,009
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:
Distribution to owners
Total 2,504 3,505 6,009
Balance at 30 June 2012 102,412 26,763 129,175

Balance at 1 July 2012 102,412 26,763 129,175
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,762 2,131 4,893
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners
Distribution to owners
Balance at 30 June 2013 105,174 28,894 134,068

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOwS
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note $‘000
2013

$‘000
2012

CASH FLOwS FROM OPERATING ACTIvITIES
Receipts
Sale of goods and services 1,176 1,194
Provision of services 18,260 17,958
Interest received 607 850
GST receipts on sales 1,864 1,915
GST receipts from taxation authority 39 -

Payments
Payment to suppliers and employees (12,635) (10,703)
Finance costs (2,747) (2,791)
GST payments on purchases (1,862) (951)
GST payments to taxation authority (650) (1,018)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/ (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIvITIES 24 4,052 6,454

CASH FLOwS FROM INvESTING ACTIvITIES
Purchase of non-current physical assets (8,890) (2,339)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/ (USED IN)
INvESTING ACTIvITIES (8,890) (2,339)

CASH FLOwS FROM FINANCING ACTIvITIES
Repayment of borrowings (1,321) (1,154)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY/ (USED IN)
FINANCING ACTIvITIES (1,321) (1,154)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,159) 2,961
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 17,637 14,676
CASH AND CASH EQUIvALENT ASSETS
AT THE END OF PERIOD 24 11,478 17,637

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General 
The Authority’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 

The Authority has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.
 
Early adoption of standards
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  No Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued 
or amended but are not operative have been early adopted by the Authority for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 
2013.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)  General statement
The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions.  Several of these 
are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.  

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b)  Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, 
modified by the revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

The judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Authority’s accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are disclosed at note 2 ‘Judgements made by 
management in applying accounting policies’.

The key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are disclosed at note 3 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’.

(c)  Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Authority.

(d)  Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is recognised for the major 
business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Gains
Gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising on the disposal 
of non current assets and some revaluations of non current assets.
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(e)  Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income earned on the unexpended portion of the 
borrowings.  A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use 
or sale.  Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred. 

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the weighted average interest 
rate applicable to the Authority’s outstanding borrowings during theyear, in this case 5.30% (2012: 5.67%).

(f)  Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.  
For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value 
at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land, buildings and 
infrastructure and the cost model for all other property, plant and equipment.  Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried 
at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure only) and accumulated impairment losses.  

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s 
fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing use basis) as 
the assets are specialised and no market-based evidence of value is available.  Independent valuations are obtained every 
3 to 5 years.

When infrastructure is re-valued, the accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the gross 
carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its re-valued amount.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to 
assets and in determining estimated useful life.  Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence does 
not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

De-recognition
Upon disposal or de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset is retained in reserves.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as 
described in note 16 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.  
Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually.  Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable assets are:
Buildings   40 years
Plant and equipment  10 years
Office equipment   5 to 10 years
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(g)  Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more 
are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life.  Costs incurred below these 
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful 
life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually.  All intangible assets controlled by the Authority have a 
finite useful life and zero residual value.
The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software(a)   3 to 5 years
Website costs   3 to 5 years
(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware

Computer software+
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment.  Software that is not an 
integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the 
year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised.  Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a 
website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed.  Costs incurred in building or enhancing 
a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.

(h)  Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and 
an impairment loss is recognised.  As the Authority is a not for profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus 
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end 
of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is determined by reference 
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus 
assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(i)  Leases 
The Authority holds operating leases for motor vehicles.  Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease 
term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

(j)  Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business combinations 
involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. 
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a business comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred, identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date.
  
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date 
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquire over the fair value of the group’s share of the net identifiable assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill.  If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary 
acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase.  
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(k)  Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Authority has the following categories of financial instrument:
• Receivables; 
• Held-to-maturity investments term deposits; and
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
•  Financial Assets
     - Cash and cash equivalents
     - Receivables
     - Term deposits
•  Financial Liabilities
     - Payables
     - WATC/Bank borrowings

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or 
the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest 
rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(l)  Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 
a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

(m)  Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (refer to note 19 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as 
the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the end of the financial year.  Accrued salaries 
are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Authority considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its net fair value.

(n)  Receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. 
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible 
are written off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there 
is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as 
it is due for settlement within 30 days.

(o)  Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of 
a purchase of assets or services.  The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.  

(p)  Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the net proceeds received.  Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is 
at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value.  Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest 
rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.  

Provisions - employee benefits 
Annual leave and long service leave
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised 
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Annual and long service 
leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the reporting period is measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Leave liabilities are in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the end of the reporting period.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expectations of future wage and salary levels including 
non salary components such as employer superannuation contributions.  In addition, the long service leave liability also 
considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.
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The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Authority does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) in accordance with legislative requirements administers public 
sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia.

Employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new members or the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension or the GSS 
Schemes became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  Both of these schemes are 
accumulation schemes.  The Authority makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with 
the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  These contributions extinguish the 
liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS Schemes.

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for employees who transferred to the GSS Scheme are defined benefit 
schemes.  These benefits are wholly unfunded and the liabilities for future payments are provided at the end of the reporting 
period.  The liabilities under these schemes have been calculated separately for each scheme annually by Mercer Human 
Resource Consulting Actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The expected future payments are discounted to present value using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The GSS Scheme, the WSS Scheme, and the GESBS Scheme, where the current service superannuation charge is paid 
by the Authority to the GESB, are defined contribution schemes.  The liabilities for current service superannuation charges 
under the GSS Scheme, the WSS Scheme, and the GESBS Scheme are extinguished by the concurrent payment of employer 
contributions to the GESB.

The Gold State Superannuation Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole of government 
reporting.  However, from an agency perspective, apart from the transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan under AASB 
119.

Provisions – other
Employment on costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately 
as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as 
part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Authority’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  

The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

(r)  Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense of the defined benefit plans is made up of the following elements:
• Current service cost;
• Interest cost (unwinding of the discount);
• Actuarial gains and losses; and
• Past service cost.

Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plans are recognised immediately as income or expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.
The superannuation expense of the defined contribution plans is recognised as and when the contributions fall due. Refer to 
note 2(q) ‘Provisions – Employee Benefits’ under Superannuation

(s)  Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current 
financial year.

Note 3.  Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Authority makes key estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  These estimates and assumptions are based 
on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Depreciation
The depreciation rates used for depreciable assets are:
Buildings   2.5%
Plant and equipment  10%
Office Equipment   10-20%

Land and Buildings
Land and Buildings values are based on market valuations provided by Landgate.  The revaluation occurs on 1 July each 
financial year.  Refer to Note 16 for details.

Long Service Leave
In calculating the Authority’s long service leave provision, several estimations and assumptions have been made.  These 
include expected future salary rates, salary inflation, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.  

Any changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Note 4. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2012 that impacted on the Authority.

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049].
This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis 
of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification 
adjustments). 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.  Consequently, the Authority has not applied early any 
following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Authority.  Where applicable, the 
Authority plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory 
Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures amended the mandatory 
application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015.  The Authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition 
Guidance and Other Amendments amends the mandatory application date of this 
Standard to 1 January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements
This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-10 amends the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013
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AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.
AASB 2012-10 amends the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  The Authority has liaised 
with the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) 
to ensure that sufficient information will be provided to meet the disclosure 
requirements of this Standard.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 119 Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the 
recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.
Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plans will be recognised in other 
comprehensive income (currently in profit or loss).  This will impact profit or loss 
but not total comprehensive income for the period.
The effect of discounting annual leave and long service leave liabilities that were 
previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-10 amends the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-10 amends the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting 
of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial 
statements.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

 AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1,2,3,5,7,8,101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 
116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, and Int2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129, 1052]
This standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of 
entities. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 
136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127].
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 
AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 
1 January 2015.  The Authority has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054].
This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and 
incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between 
Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure 
reporting.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013
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AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.
AASB 2012-10 amends the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and 
requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  The Authority has liaised 
with the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) 
to ensure that sufficient information will be provided to meet the disclosure 
requirements of this Standard.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 119 Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the 
recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.
Actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plans will be recognised in other 
comprehensive income (currently in profit or loss).  This will impact profit or loss 
but not total comprehensive income for the period.
The effect of discounting annual leave and long service leave liabilities that were 
previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-10 amends the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.
AASB 2012-10 amends the mandatory application date of this Standard to 1 
January 2014 for not-for-profit entities.  The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting 
of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial 
statements.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

 AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1,2,3,5,7,8,101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 
116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, and Int2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129, 1052]
This standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of 
entities. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 
136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127].
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 
AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 
1 January 2015.  The Authority has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054].
This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and 
incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between 
Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure 
reporting.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2011-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Relief from 
Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131]
This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and 
proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated 
financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to 
be IFRS compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and the 
ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with Australian Accounting Standards 
or Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  There 
is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 
124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]. 
This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance 
of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.  For not-for-profit entities it applies 
to annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2014.  The Authority 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 
1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 
133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 
17, 19, 131 & 132]
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing 
AASB 13 in September 2011.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 
(September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011.  There is 
limited financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements. 
This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119 (September 2011).  There is no financial 
impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Measurement - 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141]. 
This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for 
additional and amended disclosures arising from AASB 13 and the consequential 
amendments implemented through AASB 2011-8.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132].
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information 
that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect or 
potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with 
the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the 
entity’s financial position. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132].
This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies 
identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the 
meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that some 
gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.  There 
is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2014
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AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements process.  There is 
no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of 
AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8].
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments to 1 January 2015.  Further amendments are also made to 
consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 
January 2015 and to consequential amendments arising out of the Standards 
that will still apply from 1 January 2013.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127].
This Standard adds to or amends the Australian Accounting Standards to provide 
further information regarding the differential reporting framework and the two tiers 
of reporting requirements for preparing general financial statement.  There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, & 2011-7 and Int 12].
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related Standards to revise 
the transition guidance relevant to the initial application of those Standards, 
and to clarify the circumstances in which adjustments to an entity’s previous 
accounting for its involvement with other entities are required and the timing of 
such adjustments.
The Standard was issued in December 2012.  The Authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 
2011-4].
This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (Tier 2).  These corrections 
ensure that the Standards reflect decisions of the AASB regarding the Tier 2 
requirements.
This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation and the equity method (in 
the new Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards) to entities complying 
with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  
There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

The Accounting Standards have been reviewed and it is considered that none have an effect other than those shown. 

Note 5. Trading Profit
2013
$000

2012
$000

Sales 1,176 1,194
Cost of Sales:
     Opening inventory 10 -
     Purchases 686 679

696 679
     Closing inventory 8 10
Cost of Goods Sold 688 669
Trading Profit 488 525
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AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements process.  There is 
no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of 
AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8].
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments to 1 January 2015.  Further amendments are also made to 
consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 
January 2015 and to consequential amendments arising out of the Standards 
that will still apply from 1 January 2013.  There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127].
This Standard adds to or amends the Australian Accounting Standards to provide 
further information regarding the differential reporting framework and the two tiers 
of reporting requirements for preparing general financial statement.  There is no 
financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, & 2011-7 and Int 12].
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related Standards to revise 
the transition guidance relevant to the initial application of those Standards, 
and to clarify the circumstances in which adjustments to an entity’s previous 
accounting for its involvement with other entities are required and the timing of 
such adjustments.
The Standard was issued in December 2012.  The Authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 
2011-4].
This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (Tier 2).  These corrections 
ensure that the Standards reflect decisions of the AASB regarding the Tier 2 
requirements.
This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation and the equity method (in 
the new Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards) to entities complying 
with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  
There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2013

The Accounting Standards have been reviewed and it is considered that none have an effect other than those shown. 

Note 5. Trading Profit
2013
$000

2012
$000

Sales 1,176 1,194
Cost of Sales:
     Opening inventory 10 -
     Purchases 686 679

696 679
     Closing inventory 8 10
Cost of Goods Sold 688 669
Trading Profit 488 525

Note 6. Rental Income
2013
$000

2012
$000

Office & warehouse rent 9,464 9,089
Parking 347 231

9,811 9,320

Note 7. Provision of services
2013
$000

2012
$000

Electricity 4,831 4,599
Garbage removal 475 354
Outgoings recouped 2,670 3,701

7,976 8,654

Provision for services relates to the Authority recouping site management charges including appropriate employee costs from 
tenants.

Note 8. Interest revenue      
2013
$000

2012
$000

Operating 22 54
Term Deposits 369 514
Interest - Other 145 282

536 850

Note 9. Other revenue      
2013
$000

2012
$000

Sundry Income 73 111
73 111

Note 10. Operational Expenses
2013
$000

2012
$000

Bad and Doubtful Debts 186 11
Internet Services 41 11
Deferred Maintenance - 29
Maintenance 319 623
Consultancy 551 508
Insurance (a) 203 -
Sponsorship 88 112
Travel Expenses 40 63
Superannuation Defined Benefit Plan 27 25

Staff Costs and Board Fees 2,224 1,405
Vacancy Advertising 9 57
Minor Plant and Equipment 53 227
Corporate Planning 57 143
Legal Fees 372 149
Other 496 870

4,666 4,235
 
Operational expenses are the costs incurred by the Authority in overseeing administrative/over sight functions.
(a) Insurance costs previously classed as Commercial Site Management Expenses.
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Note 11. Commercial Site Management expenses
2013
$000

2012
$000

Rates 401 329

Insurance (a) - 155
Air Conditioning/Ventilation 31 21
Cleaning 714 497
Electricity 3,826 3,474
Fire Protection 51 46
Pest Control 35 28
Repairs & Maintenance 666 456
Security 271 258

Telephones 13 35
Salaries &  Board Fees 998 1,425
Sundry Expenses 38 143
Gardening 85 70
Administration 150 234

7,279 7,172

Commercial Site Management expenses relate to the costs incurred by the Authority in running the site.  These amounts 
are recouped from tenants as ‘variable outgoings’.  Commercial site management expenses include additional amounts on-
charged to tenants which do not form part of ‘variable outgoings’ as they are directly charged to tenants, examples are 
electricity and rates.

(a) Insurance costs now classed as Operational Expenses

Note 12.  Depreciation and Amortisation expense
2013
$000

2012
$000

Depreciation

Plant and equipment 122 169
Buildings 1,562 1,505
Office equipment 5 5
Total depreciation 1,689 1,679

Amortisation
Computer equipment 8 30
Total amortisation 8 30
Total depreciation and amortisation 1,697 1,709

Note 13. Finance Costs
2013
$000

2012
$000

Interest Paid 2,431 2,745
Guarantee Fees 316 94

2,747 2,839
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Note 14. Receivables
2013
$000

2012
$000

Current
Receivables 1,103 1,361
Allowance for impairment of receivables (202) (17)

901 1,344
Total current 901 1,344

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables: 
Balance at start of year 17 4
Doubtful debts expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 186 14
Amounts written off during the year    (1)  (1)

Balance at end of year 202 17

In most cases the Authority holds any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables for lease 
rentals. These normally include a bank guarantee and/or Directors guarantees.

Note 15. Other assets   
2013
$000

2012
$000

Current
Inventory 8 10
Prepayment 24 14
Total current 32 24

Note 16. Property, plant and equipment

2013
$000

2012
$000

Land
Developed at fair value (a) 96,297 95,450

96,297 95,450
Buildings
At fair value (a) 62,873 60,158
Accumulated depreciation (22) (1,504)

62,851 58,654
Capital works
Construction costs 9,025 3,602

9,025 3,602
Plant, equipment and vehicles
At cost 1,066 1,335
Accumulated depreciation (471) (508)

596 827
Office equipment

At cost 523 482
Accumulated depreciation (439) (456)

84 26

168,853 158,557

(a) Freehold land and buildings were re-valued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2013 and recognised at 30 June 2013. The fair value of all land and buildings 
has been determined by reference to recent market transactions.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting 
period are set out in the table below.

2013

Land

$000

Buildings

$000

Buildings 
under 

construction
$000

Plant, 
equipment 

and vehicles
$000

Office 
equipment

$000

Carpets

$000

Total

$000
Carrying amount at 
start of year 95,450 58,653 3,602 827 26 0 158,557
Additions 2,207 7,196 154 70 9,627
Transfers 847 791 (1,432) (200) (6) 0
Other disposals (40) (1) (41)
Revaluation 
increments

2,762 2,762

Impairment losses (a) (340) (23) (363)

Impairment losses 
reversed
Depreciation (1,562) (122) (5) (1,689)
Carrying amount at 
end of year 96,297 62,851 9,025 596 84 0 168,853

2012

Land (b)

$000

Buildings

$000

Buildings 
under 

construction
$000

Plant, 
equipment 

and vehicles
$000

Office 
equipment

$000

Carpets

$000

Total

$000
Carrying amount at 
start of year 92,370 60,550 1885 542 12 7 155,366
Additions - - 2,208 131 - - 2,339
Transfers - 157 (491) 322 20 (7) -
Other disposals - - - - - - -
Revaluation 
increments 3,080 (577) - - - - 2,503
Impairment losses (a) - - - - - - -

Impairment losses 
reversed (a)

- 27 - - - - -

Depreciation - (1,504) - (168) (5) - (1,678)
Carrying amount 
at end of year 95,450 58,653 3,602 827 26 0 158,557

(a) The Authority recocognised during the year that the weekend market expansion project would no longer continue and as a result the 
expenditure of $322,000 incurred in prior years has been written off.

(b) Freehold land and buildings were re-valued as at 1 July 2012 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2013 and recognised at 30 June 2013. The fair value of all land and buildings 
has been determined by reference to recent market transactions.
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Note 17. Intangible Assets 
2013
$000

2012
$000

Computer software
At cost 161 153
Accumulated amortisation (154) (147)

7 6
Goodwill and other intangible assets
At cost 635 612
Impairment loss (551) (551)

84 61
Total Intangible Assets 91 67

Reconciliations:

Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year 6 65
Additions 8 -
Amortisation expense (7) (59)

Carrying amount at end of year 7 6

Goodwill and other intangible assets
Carrying amount at start of year 61 61
Additions 23 -
Carrying amount at end of year 84 61

 
Note 18. Impairment of assets

All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.

Capital program expenditure on the weekend market expansion was incurred in prior years and maintained as work in 
progress. It was recognised during the year that the Authority would no longer continue with this capital project and as a result 
the $322,000 expenditure incurred has been written off and expensed.  Please see Note 16 for further details.

Note 19. Payables
2013
$000

2012
$000

Current
Interest payable - WATC 680 648
Accounts payables 2,010 1,974
GST payables 14 13
Accrued salaries 83 74
Total current 2,787 2,709
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Note 20. Borrowings     
2013
$000

2012
$000

Current
WATC Loan 1,389 1,321
Total current 1,389 1,321

Non-current
WATC Loan 41,974 43,363
Total non-current 41,974 43,363

43,363 44,684

Note 21. Provisions
2013
$000

2012
$000

Current
Employee benefits provision 186 236
     Annual leave (a) 1 42
     Long service leave (b) - 6

     Superannuation (d) 187 284

Other provisions

     Employment on-costs (c) 26 24

26 24
213 308

Non current
Employee benefits provision

     Long service leave (b) 263 147
     Superannuation (d) 24 21

287 168
Other provisions
     Employment on-costs (c) 62 63

62 63
349 231

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:  

2013
$000

2012
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 186 236
More than 12 months after the reporting period - -

186 236

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

         
2013
$000

2012
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 1 42
More than 12 months after the reporting period 263 147

264 189
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(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation 
insurance.  The provision is the present value of expected future payments.  The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount 
(finance cost), is disclosed in note 10 ‘operational expenses’.

2013
$000

2012
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period - 6
More than 12 months after the reporting period 24 21

24 27

(d) Defined benefit superannuation plans. 
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are as follows:      
                   
                       Pension Scheme

2013
$000

2012
$000

Current service cost 
Interest cost (unwinding of the discount) 2 4
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised 25 23

Total, included in Commercial Site Management (Refer to note 11) 27 27

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:
Present value of unfunded obligations 88 87
Liability in the statement of financial position 88 87

Reconciliation of the unfunded liability recognised in the statement of financial position is as 
follows:
Liability at start of year 87 85
Current service cost
Interest cost (unwinding of the discount) 2 4
Net actuarial losses/(gains) recognised 25 23
Benefits paid (26) (25)
Liability at end of year 88 87
Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets is as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at start of year - -
Employer contributions 26 25
Benefits paid (26) (25)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year - -

The Principal actuarial assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows:

2013 2012 2011

Discount rate 3.38% 2.89% 5.34%
Future salary increases 5.00% 4.50% 4.50%
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Historic Summary
2013
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

2010
$000

Pension scheme:
Present value of unfunded obligation 88 87 85 90
Fair value of plan assets
Deficit 88 87 85 90

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities:

Pension scheme 20 17 14 (65)

Employer funding arrangements for the defined benefit plans
Employer contributions of $26,000 are expected to be paid to the Pension Scheme in the subsequent annual reporting period.

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below.

2013
$000

2012
$000

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 87 42
Additional provisions recognised 1 45
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits - -
Unwinding of the discount - -
Carrying amount at end of year 88 87

Note 22. Other liabilities         
2013
$000

2012
$000

Current
Deposit – magnetic cards 134 121
Rental income in advance 104 179
Retentions (2) -
Total current 236 300

Non-current
Security deposits held in trust 337 220
Total non-current 337 220

Note 23. Equity

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Authority.  The Government holds the equity interest in the 
Authority on behalf of the community.  The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the 
revaluation of non-current assets.

Reserves
2013
$000

2012
$000

Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of year 102,412 99,908
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Land - 3,080
Buildings 2,762 (577)
Balance at end of year 105,174 102,412
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Accumulated surplus  
2013
$000

2012
$000

Balance at start of year 26,763 23,258
Result for the period 2,131 3,505
Balance at end of year 28,894 26,763

 
Note 24. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2013
$000

2012
$000

Operating 728 910
Cash Management - 7,083
Term Deposit 10,750 9,644

11,478 17,637
         
Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalent to net cash flows provided by operating activities

2013
$000

2012
$000

Profit 2,131 3,505
Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,697 1,709
Write downs 363 -
Doubtful debts expense 185 11
Pension Expense 1 (20)
Prepayments 10 -
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (b) (235) (663)
Inventory (2) -

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (b) 42 1,747
Current provisions (95) 32
Other current liabilities (64) 193
Non-current provisions 118 80
Other non-current liabilities (117) -

Change in GST in receivables/payables (a) 18 (284)
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 4,052 6,454

(a) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

(b) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/
purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

At the end of the reporting period, the Authority had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in the 
financial statements.  
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Note 25. Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments       
2013
$000

2012
$000

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the 
amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 869 6,091

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - -
Later than 5 years - -

869 6,091
The capital commitments include amounts for:
Fire Service Upgrade 582 4,894
Civil Works - 683
Amenities Building - 436
Cold Chain Warehousing 39 18
Standby Generator 74 -
Sundry 174 60

869 6,091

Lease commitments  
2013
$000

2012
$000

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 1,773 634

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 218 204
Later than 5 years - -

1,991 838
Representing:
Cancellable operating leases - -
Non-cancellable operating leases 1,991 838
Future finance charges on finance leases - -

1,991 838
       
Note 26. Lease payments receivable

2013
$000

2012
$000

Non cancellable operating lease payments receivable.  Commitments for minimum lease 
payments are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 8,134 6,056

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 21,209 12,974
Later than 5 years 6,943 5,796

36,286 24,826

Note 27. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
In addition to the liabilities included in the financial statements, there are the following contingent liabilities:
Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Authority is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the 
Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC).  In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of 
the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values.  Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation 
required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the Authority may have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses. There have been no suspected contaminated sites reported to DEC.
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Contingent Assets
In addition to the assets included in the financial statements, there are the following contingent assets:
There are a number of Tenants who currently hold expired leases, and The Authority is seeking to enter into new leases with 
these tenants. Tenants who accept the new lease will be liable for backdated rent indexations effective from 1 October 2012 
to lease execution. The Authority has the discretion to not renew these monthly holdover leases and vacate the tenants. The 
backdated rent is conditional on the execution of the new lease thus non-renewal of monthly holdover leases would result in 
backdated rent not being recoverable. Whilst it is probable that most tenants will execute the new lease in due course they 
have been reluctant to do so thus far and the outcome is not certain.

Note 28. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

There were no material events occurring after the balance sheet date.

Note 29. Explanatory statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial statement 
titled ‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates’ are shown below:  Significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 10% or $250,000.

Significant variances between estimate and actual for the financial year
2013

Estimate
$000

2013
Actual

$000
variance

$000

Rental Income 10,126 9,811 315
Commercial Site Management Expenses 7,692 7,280 412
Impairment - 363 (363)

 
Rental Income
Lease negotiations and executions has been slower than initially anticipated. Where leases have been executed the Authority 
has recovered backdated rent increases from October 2012 as appropriate. Accounting standards prevent the Authority from 
recognising revenue from the other leases until execution although it is probable that these leases will be executed and 
backdated rent recovered in 2013-14.

Commercial Site Management Expenses
Repair, maintenance and risk management activities recognised favourable variances with less reactive repairs as a result 
of significant prior year preventative maintenance. Expenditure against outgoings was constrained to ensure a below budget 
performance and proactive rationalisation of these activities.

Impairment
Capital program expenditure on the weekend market expansion was incurred in prior years and maintained as work in 
progress. It was recognised during the year that the Authority would no longer continue with this capital project and as a result 
the expenditure incurred as assessed as impaired and expensed.

Significant variances between actual results for actual and prior year actual

2013
$000

2013
$000

variance
$000

Income
Rental Income 9,811 9,320 491
Provision of Services Revenue 7,976 8,654 (678)

Interest Revenue 536 850 (314)

Expense

Operational Expenses 4,666 4,235 431

Impairment 363 - 363
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Rental Income
Where leases have been executed the Authority has recovered backdated rent increases from October 2012 as appropriate. 
The Authority has also sought to bring tenant rents into line with market rates and have negotiated rental increases where 
appropriate.
Provision of Services Revenue
The Authority has constrained general site operating through variable outgoings and where appropriate has decided not to 
recover identified and agreed expenditure items.
Interest Revenue
The Authority has actively expended against its cash balances on capital works programs during the year. This has had the 
effect of drawing down its cash balances and hence the interest revenue that is derived.
Operational Expenses
Increases in legal fees as new leases are actively negotiated and professional services fees in order to gain a better 
understanding of the site, its dynamics and improve processes.
Impairment
Capital program expenditure on the weekend market expansion was incurred in prior years and maintained as work in 
progress. It was recognised during the year that the Authority would no longer continue with this capital project and as a result 
the expenditure incurred as assessed as impaired and expensed.

Note 30.  Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, 
finance leases, Treasurer’s advances, loans and receivables, and payables. The Authority has limited exposure to financial 
risks.  The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Authority.  

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets 
is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at note 30(c) 
‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 14 ‘Receivables’.

The Authority trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties.  The Authority has polices in place to ensure that leases 
are made to tenants with an appropriate credit history.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an on-going basis 
with the result that the Authority’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the balance sheet date, there are no significant 
concentrations of credit risk.

All tenants with outstanding balances exceeding 7 days are notified of their outstanding debt, if this is not paid within 14 days, 
another letter is provided and a due date for payment advised.  Where the due date is missed, the tenant is sent a default.  
The Authority also has the capacity to charge interest on outstanding balances in accordance with the provisions of the lease.

The allowance for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence, such as past experience, and 
current and expected observable data indicating changes in client credit ratings.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Authority is exposed to 
liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Authority’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of loans and 
finance leases.  The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure 
that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Authority’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not 
materially exposed to other price risks. The Authority’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily 
to the long-term debt obligations.

The Authority’s borrowings are all obtained through the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are at fixed 
rates with varying maturities.  The risk is managed by WATC through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates.  
Other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note (c) below, the Authority has limited exposure to 
interest rate risk because it has no borrowings other than WATC borrowings.
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(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period are as follows:

2013
$000

2012
$000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11,478 17,637

Receivables 901 1,344
Other financial assets 32 24

12,411 19,005
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 46,150 45,419

46,150 45,419

(c)  Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk and interest rate exposures
The following table disclose the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures and the ageing analysis 
of financial assets. The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount 
of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Authority. 

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds. 

The Authority does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted 
in them being past due or impaired.

Interest rate exposures and ageing analysis of financial assets (a)

Interest rate exposure Past due but not impaired

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
%

Carrying 
amount

$000

Fixed 
interest 

rate 

$000

Variable 
interest 

rate

$000

Non-  
interest 
bearing

$000

Up to 3 
months

$000

3-12 
months

$000

1-2 
years

$000

2-5 
years

$000

More 
than 5 
years

$000

Impaired  
financial 

assets

$000

Financial Assets

2013
Cash and cash equivalents 3.6 11,478 10,750 728

Receivables(a) 901 901 99 4 16 202

Other financial assets

12,379 10,750 728 901 99 4 16 202
2012
Cash and cash equivalents 5.6 17,637 17,637

Receivables(a) 1,344 1,344 918 460 0 0 17

Other financial assets 2 2

18,983 17,637 1,344 918 460 0 0 17

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Liquidity risk
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities.  The contractual maturity amounts are 
representative of the undiscounted amounts at the end of the reporting period.  The table includes interest and principal cash 
flows. An adjustment has been made where material.
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Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial liabilities
  

Interest rate exposure Maturity date
Weighted 
Average      
Effective      

Interest Rate
%

Carrying 
amount

$000

Fixed 
interest 

rate 

$000

Non-  interest 
bearing

$000

Up to 3 
months

$000

3-12
months

$000

1-2 
years

$000

2-5 
years

$000

More 
than 5 
years

$000

Financial Liabilities

2013
Payables 2,787 2,787 2,787

WATC/Bank borrowings 5.30 43,363 43,363 996 2,880 3,666 8,618 31,597

46,150 43,363 2,787 3,783 2,880 3,666 8,618 31,597

2012
Payables 735 735 735

WATC/Bank borrowings 5.67 44,684 44,684 1,039 3,003 3,809 9,454 31,903

45,419 44,684 735 1,774 3,003 3,809 9,454 31,903

The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the 
balance sheet date on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates.  It is assumed that the change 
in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

- 100 basis points + 100 basis points

Carrying amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2013 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 11,478 (115) (115) 115 115

Other financial assets - - - - -

Financial Liabilities

- - - - - -

Total Increase/(Decrease) (115) (115) 115 115

- 100 basis points + 100 basis points

Carrying amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2012 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 17,637 (176) (176) 176 176

Other financial assets - - - - -

Financial Liabilities

- - - - - -

Total Increase/(Decrease) - (176) (176) 176 176

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised 
at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

Where a material difference between the carrying amount and fair value exists in respect of financial assets or liabilities, 
then the aggregate fair value of the class of financial assets or liabilities should be disclosed.  An entity shall disclose the 
methods and significant assumptions applied in determining fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities separately 
for significant classes of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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31.  Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers

Remuneration on Members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits 
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are

2013
$000

2012
$000

$

0 – 10,000 - 1

10,001 – 20,000 3 2

20,001 – 30,000 3 3

30,001 – 40,000 1 1

Cash remuneration received in relation to 2013 161 147

Annual leave and long service leave accruals - -

Other benefits - -

The total remuneration of members of the accountable authority 161 147

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the authority in respect of members of the accountable 
authority.

No members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

Remuneration of Senior Officers
This financial year senior officers are determined as the Chief Executive Officer and 3 management positions which form 
the Authority’s designated executive. These senior officers other than the senior officers reported as members of the 
accountable authority whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial 
year, fall within the following bands:

2013
$000

2012
$000

$

0 – 70,000 - 1

130,001 – 140,000 - 1

140,001 – 150,000 1 1

150,001 – 160,000 1 1

180,001 – 190,000 1 -

230,001 – 240,000 - 1

240,001 – 250,000 1 -

Cash remuneration received in relation to 2013 697 678

Annual leave and long service leave accruals 73 63

Other benefits 42 57

The total remuneration of senior officers 812 798

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers other 
than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority. The figures include current employees, those that 
terminated employment during the year, temporary elevations in position and includes any termination payments applicable. 

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
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32.  Remuneration of Auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General for the financial year is as follows:
2013
$000

2012
$000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 32 30
 
33.  Supplementary Financial Information

Losses on Wages Overpaid
During the financial year, amounts were recognised as wages overpaid between 2009 and 2012. The Board approved the non 
recovery and write off of these amounts.     

2013
$000

2012
$000

Wages written off 0 27
     
Estimates and Judgements
Following the review of an existing lease and the entry of lease agreement negotiations during the year with an existing tenant, 
the Authority has commenced legal action for damages caused in relation to this lease. At present within these financial 
statements, no assets have been accounted for or contingent assets disclosed in relation to this matter that may arise as a 
result of this action as the outcomes are not yet known.
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CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Perth Market 
Authority’s performance, and fairly represented the performance of the Perth 
Market Authority for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

D Thomas     M O’Neill
Chairman of Perth Market Authority Member of the Perth Market Authority
30 August 2013    30 August 2013
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KEY PEFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Authority’s desired outcome is to:

“Maintain a central produce market for Western Australia”

This outcome was approved by the Outcome Structure Review Group of the Department of Treasury 
and Finance in June 2008. The outcome illustrates the principal function of the Authority under the Act 
is to ‘establish and maintain a public market’.

This outcome aligns with the State Government’s Strategic Outcome to provide ‘a reliable and sustainable 
supply of essential services’, as outlined in the Better Practices Better Future document.

The Authority’s service, as approved by the Outcome Structure Review Group, is:

“Management of the Authority’s facilities”

The Authority’s Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) provide a guide to its performance regarding its 
stated outcome. Government policy requires effectiveness and efficiency indicators to demonstrate 
this performance. By their nature these indicators are very high level and attempt to encompass all 
the Authority’s strategic requirements, operations and costs. This includes the Authority ensuring that 
economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the long term 
benefit of the state. The Authority reviews and amends its indicators to reflect changes as part of its 
strategic planning process. This was last undertaken in 2009 and has been reviewed in the 2013-18 
Strategic Plan with recommendations expected to be finalised furing 2013/14.

Additionally the Authority also utilises the operational and commercial indicators to manage and improve 
its performance. This includes comparing results to target comparisons to previous year’s results and 
external market information.
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KEY EFFECTIvENESS INDICATORS

1.   Market Throughput
The effectiveness of the Authority in maintaining “a central produce market for Western Australia” is 
measured by throughput i.e. the volume and value of produce traded through the Market City site.

The information has been sourced from CTA wholesalers through an online statistics database since 
1 July 2006. The data is now collected by the Chamber and presents valuable information on industry 
trends for the future. Every effort is made to ensure accuracy of the data but conversion factors and 
variation in packaging may result in slight differences to actual market throughputs.

Years Volume (T) Value ($M) volume value
Index 190,187 380.2 1.0000 1.0000
2010/11 205,840 435.6 1.0823 1.1457
2011/12 228,365 414.1 1.2007 1.0891
2012/13 212,504 455.5 1.1173 1.1980

The 2012/13 results indicates a minor contraction on produce throughput by volume whilst a notable 
increase in produce throughput by value when contrast to the 2011/12 throughput. The long term trend 
data provided by the Chamber, demonstrates a continued growth in both volume and value of produce 
through the site. 

Independent market analysis indicates that a marginal 2.8% decrease of traded volume through the 
Market City site over the past year. The WA market for fresh fruit and vegetables has enjoyed population 
based demand growth beyond the levels of other states. The Authority traders’ share has declined due 
to lower exposure to the distribution channels that generated this growth. 

Notes to the indicator:
An index has been applied to display the change in volume and values of produce traded in the market; 
2008/09 is the initial year of application, with an index of “1”.
The target of exceeding the index is considered appropriate and reflects the Authority’s expectation 
of the site maintaining produce volume and values over time as external factors (climate, consumer 
preferences, biosecurity, and exchange rates), associated with fresh produce trade are difficult to 
predict.

DESIRED OUTCOME: Create and maintain a wholesale fresh produce market
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KEY EFFECTIvENESS INDICATORS continued

2.   Cost per Square Metre of net lettable area
The Authority’s ability to efficiently manage expenditure on commercial site management costs (i.e. 
variable outgoings), operational costs, borrowing costs and depreciation is integral to managing the 
market facilities which include the major infrastructure being the CTA, Warehouses, and the Commercial 
Centre.

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13
Total Commercial Site Costs 11,612 13,031 14,136 16,371 17,560
Net lettable area (sqm) 112,800 112,800 112,800 112,800 112,800
Operating cost/sqm $102.94 $115.52 $125.32 $145.13 $155.67

The table and graph above show the escalating costs associated with running the Market City site. 
Major items of expenditure affecting the results include electricity, staff costs, maintenance, repairs and 
equipment, consulting fees, and security (site access control). A significant proportion of these costs 
are recoverable from tenants on a user pays basis. The rate of increase is considered acceptable and 
unavoidable when compared to cost increases throughout the broader community.

Notes to the indicator: 
Net Lettable Area includes leasable buildings, floor, and mezzanine and land areas.

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Capital works
The Authority has a commitment to continual upgrading of the Market City facility both in terms of new 
building construction and renewal/improvement of existing infrastructure. In this regard, a formal Site 
Structure Plan is in place that is periodically reviewed and updated to accommodate the changing 
environment. This Plan has recently been reviewed in conjunction with the Authority’s Strategic Planning 
process.
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES continued

Capital Projects Ongoing
The installation of a site wide Fire Services System was substantially completed in 2012/13. This will 
provide the CTA and other large warehouses with a best practice fire suppression system to comply 
with current safety standards. The continuity of power supply is critical to maintaining the refrigeration 
capacity of tenants’ operations as well as ensuring the availability of fresh food to the public. Onsite 
electricity generation is a key component of the Authority’s disaster management plans. Works have 
been undertaken to establish the optimal design specifications that would best meet the Authority’s 
needs and preliminary site works have commenced.

Work on the additional cold chain warehouse commenced in 2012/13. Necessary site development 
and utility works have been completed facilitating this and future site expansion developmental works. 
The Authority, seeking to provide its tenants with an efficient warehouse and lower operating costs, is 
considering the incorporation of refrigeration plant as part of the contruction.

Capital Projects Completed
The provision of a new amenities block and partial relocation of the existing weekend market has been 
completed. Necessary civil works to provide better user experience and parking management have 
been completed.

The Authority has sought to address concerns of the ageing Canning Vale site through a range of 
minor works. These have focussed on necessary safety, risk mitigation and maintenance activities to 
ensure the wellbeing of all users.

EMPLOYMENT AND INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

EMPLOYEE PROFILE 2011/12 2012/13
Permanent Full Time 22 25
Permanent Part Time 0 0
Fixed Term Full Time 1 3
Fixed Term Part Time 0 0
Casual 28 27

EMPLOYEE PROFILE 2011/12 2012/13
Trainee 0 1
Other 0 0
Total Head Count 51 56
Full Time Equivalent (FTE) 23 29

wORKFORCE DIvERSITY 2011/12 2012/13
Women in Management Tier 1 1
Indigenous Australians 0 0
People with Disabilities 0 0
People from Culturally Diverse 
Background

5 9

Youth (15-24 years) 21 24
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OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES continued

Staff Development
The  Authority’s  employees  are  offered  a  range  of  training  options  to  facilitate development.  
Training in 2012/13 included specific options offered through the Public Sector Commission, Department 
of Treasury and the Office of the Information Commissioner as well as other professional bodies.  Staff 
training and development is determined according to staff roles, responsibilities and relevance to the 
individual and industry. Other training included:

• Accountable and Ethical Decision Making
• Interstate Market Site Visits 
• Conferences and Seminars
• Freedom of Information
• Industry Training
• Conflict Resolution and Communications

• OH&S Requirements
• First Aid
• Safety and Risk Management including 

Fire and Evaction Warden Training 
• Tertiary Studies

workers Compensation
There were 3 worker’s compensation claims lodged during the year, 2 of which were no time lost and 
have been closed and 1 ongoing claim involving loss of time. This compared to the prior year with 3 
claims lodged all without loss of time and subsequently closed.

Freedom of Information
During the year, 2 Freedom of Information aplications were received and dealt with as required under 
the Freedom of Information Act 1992. 

Contracts with Senior Officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no Senior Officers, or  
firms of which Senior Officers are members, or entities in which Senior Officers have substantial interests 
had any interest in existing or proposed contracts with Perth Market Authority and Senior Officers.

Insurance Premiums Paid to Indeminfy Members of the Board
An insurance policy has been taken out to indemnify members of the Board against any liability  incurred  
under  Sections  13  or  14  of  the  Statutory  Corporations  (Liability  of Directors) Act 1996.  The amount 
of the insurance premium paid for 2012/13 was $9,226.

GOvERNANCE

Members of the Perth Market Authority

The  Authority’s  governing  body  (Board  of  Directors)  is  appointed  by  the  Minister following a 
recommendation of the Chairman. Appointments are for a term of 3 years and members may be re-
appointed.  In a letter dated 23 May 2011, the Minister extended the Board Members tenure for a further 
period of 3 years until 23 September 2014.

The Authority consists of 7 members who are selected according to their experience relevant to the 
Authority’s operations and consist of at least:
•   1 knowledgeable in the affairs and interests of growers
•   1 knowledgeable in the affairs and interests of agents (wholesalers)
•   1 knowledgeable in the affairs and interests of retailers (buyers)
•   1 knowledgeable in the affairs and interests of consumers
•   The Chairman must not be a member as described above.

Profiles of the current Board Members are detailed at the beginning of this report.
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GOvERNANCE continued

Details of Board Meeting attendance are set out below.

Board Attendance

Member Appointed
Number of Applicable 
Meetings for 2012/13 Meetings Attended

David Thomas Sept 2008 8 8
Michael O’Neill Sept 2008 8 8

Ermie Robinson Sept 2008 8 5
Vasilios Gotsis Sept 2008 8 8
Diane Fry Sept 2008 8 7
Grant Etherington Nov 2009 8 7
Glenn Mews Sept 2012 7 7

Note: The Minister in his letter dated 23 May 2011 has extended the Board Members tenure for a further 
period of 3 years until 23 September 2014.

Committee Meetings

Committee Meetings Held
Finance Committee 9
Market Operations Committee 7
OH&S Committee 4
Sustainable Capital Committee 0
Audit Committee 1

ELECTORAL ACT 1907 Secton 175ZE

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Authority incurred the following 
expenditure in advertising agencies, market research organisations, direct mail polling and media 
advertising organisations. 

Advertising Agencies
Adcorp Australia Limited   31,669.36
Braincells Pty Ltd      53,092.50
Socialite Media      10,300.00

Market Research Organisations
IPSOS Australia Pty Ltd      9,290.00
Freshlogic Pty Ltd      47,867.67
Synovate       18,800.00

Media Advertising Organisation
Summit Publishing       3,300.95

Promotions
Cubic Promote      4,594.00
Print Smart Online       245.45
Minuteman Press Perth      4,966.30
Smart Colour Signs       2,175.00
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DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN OUTCOMES
(DISABILITY SERVICES ACT 1993, S29)

The Authority is committed to ensuring that the outcomes of the Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
(DAIP) are implemented across the site.

Outcome 1: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services 
of, and any events organised by, a public authority.
Initiatives:
• The Authority has continued to provide additional ramps and access for people with disabilities to  

move around the site.
• The SE2 Warehouse, CTA Fresh Ideas Conference Centre and Commercial Centre have amenities  to 

ensure people with disabilities are able to access the services and events provided by the Authority.
• The Amenities Building constructed during the year in the Western buyers car park, available for use 

by all site users including Sunday Market patrons, also has disabled facilities.
• Re-allocated and maintained ACROD bays for the Sunday Market, Retail and Commercial Centres and 

Fresh Ideas Conference Centre.

Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings 
and other facilities of a public authority.
Initiatives:
• Ramps and kerbing modifications to assist access.
• Periodic audit of access impediments and resulting recommendations are undertaken as part of the 

Authority’s BCA compliance review.
• Access and inclusion issues are part of the Authority’s capital works project assessment framework.
• Disabled toilet facilities are planned for the Authority’s administration office.

Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive information from a public authority in a format that will enable 
them to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.
Initiatives:
• A webpage link covering accessibility and safety training with a site induction questionnaire is available 

online.
• The Authority provides 24 hour site access and telephone contact line with a senior manager on call 

at all times.

Outcome 4: People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from staff of a public 
authority as other people receive from staff of that public authority.
Initiatives:
• The Authority is committed to providing Disability Awareness Training to all staff involved in the provision 

of services on site which is part of the standard induction training.
• The Authority has an ongoing relationship with Intework (a disability employment support program) 

with Intework staff assisting the Authority with an annual grounds keeping program.

Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints to 
a public authority. 
Initiatives:
• The Authority is committed to ensuring that the opportunity to make complaints is the same for everyone. 

This includes access to the Authority to complain in person or by telephone, email, internet and mail. 
Any complaints received are logged in the Complaints Register for review and action.

Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any 
public consultation by a public authority.
Initiatives:
• Limited consultations have been undertaken with the community, the Authority invites people (including 

those with disabilities) to participate in all public consultations.
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RECORD KEEPING PLANS
The Authority ensures that all staff are aware of their requirements, under the Recordkeeping Plan, to 
retain all records, including emails.  Training is provided through informal regular meetings and forms 
an integral part of the induction process.  The Authority has a Recordkeeping Plan in conjunction with 
the State Records Office.

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIvES
On  19  May  2011,  the  Minister  requested  the  Board  to  implement  a  5%  percent  reduction  
in  operating expenditure each year to 2014/15 in line with the Government’s five percent efficiency 
dividend. On 17 April 2012 it was further announced that Government Trading Enterprises (GTE’s of 
which the Authority is one) would be subject to a further efficiency dividend of 2.5% in 2012/13, 1.5% 
in 2013/14, 1.5% in 2014/15 and 0.5% in 2015/16 (Total 6%) building on the existing 5% efficiency 
dividend applied to these entities. The Board has accepted this request and management plans to 
achieve the reduction have been agreed.

COMPLIANCE wITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES
To minimise the risk of misconduct and corruption, the Authority has:

• Continued to train staff on appropriate conduct and corruption in the workplace through workshops, 
induction training and staff are encouraged to participate in regular Public Sector Surveys when 
requested.

• Regular review of a strategic internal audit program and adjustment of internal processes where 
applicable. The Authority has committed to a new 3 year internal audit program beginning in 
September 2013. 

• Various internal policies of the Authority were reviewed and amended where applicable to ensure 
they are current, relevant and consistent with Government standards. The policies are detailed and 
discussed with staff at regular information sessions and available on the Authority’s intranet for staff 
access at any time.
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH, SAFETY AND INJURY MANAGEMENT

Safety Remains Our Number One Priority

In 2012/13 the Authority undertook a number of safety initiatives and has continued  its  safety  focus  
primarily  through  the  active  patrolling  by Market Officers of the whole site to ensure safe forklift and 
vehicle movement. The increase in projects on the site has highlighted the need for strong contractor  
induction processes and ongoing monitoring and reporting of incidents.

Highlights for 2012/13:

• Regular meetings of the Site Safety Committee comprising Authority staff and tenant representatives
• Re-issue of site rules with a particular emphasis on safety
• Increased Market Officer focus on forklift and  vehicle  safety issues and traffic management
• External safety examination of stacking heights for pallets and crates
• The continuation of daily management walks to review safety and facility management issues
• Regular communications to all tenants on pressing safety issues
• First aid training and refresher courses for the majority Authority staff including Sunday Market staff
• Fire Evacuation and Safety and First Aid training for tenants at no charge
• Purchase and installation of hazard spill kits
• Upgrade of existing signage and installation of additional signage to increase safe work practices and 

traffic flow.
• Consultant conducted an audit to ascertain traffic flow and vehicle type, directional and safety signage 

and suitability of speed restrictions and locations.
• Consultant conducted a dangerous goods audit established increased internal controls for dangerous 

goods management
• Consultant conducted water hygiene sampling (e.g. Legionella testing) with no issues detected
• Consultant conducted a confined spaces audit to develop a register, log book and signage installation
• Installation of additional fall arrest systems and annual certification of existing fall arrest system.
• Significant compliance testing was carried out on the following:

• Tenant electrical boards (thermograph survey)
• RCD testing 
• Emergency exit lights and signs testing
• Test and tag of PMA portable appliances 
• Backflow prevention audit undertaken resulting in installation of backflow prevention devices
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OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH, SAFETY AND INJURY MANAGEMENT continued

Project Safety:

In 2012/13 there was a continuation of a wide range of maintenance and works projects across the 
site. This has required the Authority management to ensure that contractors are inducted and that all 
work areas maintain high safety  standards.  Daily  walks  by  management  and regular  meetings with 
contractor management maintained an excellent safety record whilst still  delivering in a timely manner 
with limited disruption to the day to day market activities.

The Authority would like to commend all tenants and particularly the forklift drivers for their patience 
as there are regular traffic disruptions or diversions to complete a variety of works essential to support 
major projects. The overall amenity of the site will continue to benefit from these ongoing operating 
and capital works.

OH&S System:

As part of ongoing systems improvement the Authority engaged a contractor to assist with a review 
of its current safety system and to assist implementation of positive safety strategies. These include:
• An OH&S Policy that is regularly reviewed and publically available
• A hazard risk assessment check list and log of all site hazards with associated mitigations and 

treatments
• An OH&S Management Plan that is regularly monitored and will be incrementally improved in the 

future
• Structured review of the site induction process and ensuring that the contractor  induction safety 

handbook remains current and provided to all contractors

The increased focus on safety carried on from processes developed in recent years by the Authority 
is part of the operational excellence objective of our overall strategic planning. This will result from:
• The updated OH&S System including online contractor induction and work permits
• Reviewing the resource allocation and training needs of PMA staff in relation to OH&S
• The ongoing ‘Safe Forklift Driver Challenge’ in conjunction with Toyota Material Handling
• Monitoring and control of contracted works to maintain the focus that safety remains the number 

one priority
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OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
Compliance with Public Sector Management Act Section 31(1)

1. The Perth Market Authority has complied with the Public Sector Standards 
in Human Resource Management, the Western Australian Public Sector 
Code of Ethics and our Code of Conduct.

2. The Perth Market Authority has procedures in place designed to ensure 
such compliance and I have conducted appropriate internal assessments to 
satisfy myself that the statement made in 1. is correct.

3. The applications made for breach of standards review and the corresponding 
outcomes for the reporting period are:

 Number lodged:      Nil
 Number of breaches found, including details
 of multiple breaches per application:   Nil
 Number still under review:     Nil

S Ward
Chief Exectutive Officer
13 September 2013    
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Our Executive Team

Our Management Team

Leon McIvor
General Manager

Nicole Fernandes

Marketing & 
Communications 
Manager

Stephen ward

Rod McPherson
Manager Finance & 

Administration

CEO

Noel Ryan

Terry O’Grady

Raymond victor

Mark Clark

Facility Manager

Property Relationship 
Manager

Property Relationship 
Manager

weekend Market 
Manager
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“To operate an efficient and effective wholesale market that provides a commercial 
advantage to its users, whilst supporting the growth of the market value chain ”   
      

- Perth Market Authority Mission Statement

wHOLESALE TENANTS
• Allstates Fruit & vegetable Merchants
• Australian Produce Brokers
• Bullfrog International
• Carbarns Fresh Produce
• Central Fruit Sales
• Costa Farms wA
• Direct Produce Distributors
• Eliash Produce
• Empro
• EPT Sales
• Etherington
• Fresh Choice
• Fresh Express Produce
• Galati Bros | Summerfruit Sales
• Key Produce
• Lantzke & Sons
• Mercer Mooney
• Mr Mushroom
• Organic Fresh Australia
• Perfection Fresh Australia
• Quality Produce International
• Smiths Enterprises
• wA Produce Brokers
• westate Fruit Sales

BUSINESS SERvICE TENANTS
• AA Tax Management & CY Projects
• AAA Safety Training & Consultancy
• Advance Business College
• AICA Abroad Immigration & Career Advisors
• Brealey Quill Kenny CPA
• Cedar wealth
• Chamber of Fruit & vegetable Industries wA
• Chivers Legal
• Citrus Finance
• Coles Express/Shell Service Station
• Cornerstone Legal
• Focused Life Solutions
• Office of Senator Glenn Sterle
• Prometrics
• Resco Services
• Skilled Group Limited
• wA Agriculture Authority

T
E
N
A
N
T
S
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About this Annual Report
This Annual Report is written, designed and edited by the Perth Market Authority staff. The Report complies 
with relevant legislation and is designed to inform stakeholders about the Perth Market Authority’s activities, 
achievements and future directions. Copies of the Annual Report are available at the Perth Market Authority 
Reception located at 280 Bannister Road Canning vale wA 6155. Electronic copies are available on the 
Market City website: www.perthmarket.com.au

wAREHOUSING TENANTS
• Ah wah Traders
• AJ Langford
• Anthelle Produce
• Boatshed Fresh Food
• Bullet Produce
• Canning Bridge IGA
• Captain Stirling IGA
• Country Direct Produce
• Country Pak wholesalers
• DAC Refrigeration
• D & T Produce
• Fernbrook Fresh (Mounts Bay 

Meats)
• FoodbankwA
• Fresh Corp
• Fresh As Produce
• Fresh Provisions
• Glenvale Produce
• GSF Australia
• Helenway Transport
• Hillside Produce
• HPS Transport
• Integrity Produce
• Jazella Nominees

RETAIL TENANTS
• Azmar Kebabs
• Caffissimo
• Glad Tidings
• Golden BBQ Seafood 

Chinese Restaurant
• Home of Africa
• Jannani Trading
• Market City Cafe
• Market City Gourmet Food
• Market City Newsagency 
• Market City tavern
• Shushi Japanese
• Spices Cafe
• Sunlong Fresh Foods
• Sunlong Fresh Seafood
• world of Treats

• J & L Fruit and vegetable Distributors
• KGT Freight Management
• Loscam
• Liftrite Forklift Service
• L & M Nicholls
• Martin’s Produce
• Meeres Freightlines
• Midland Growers wholesale
• Odeum Produce
• Parks Fresh Produce
• Peaches Fresh Fruit Markets
• Rand Transport
• RH Trotter & Co.
• RM Mercer Transport
• Scutti A Taste of Europe
• SJ Fresh Produce
• Southern Regional Transport
• Spud Shed
• Sunlong Fresh Foods
• The Herdsman
• Toyotal Material Handling Australia
• vision Produce
• wA Crates
• wBP Fresh
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